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ABSTRACT

This thesis is a study of one aspect of the pﬁﬁ1icfgareér of
”’/S;mes Layton Ralston (1881-1948). soldier, Tawyer, politician and
Minister of National Defence j940~19ﬁ4. Ralston was a man gncwn to atl
Canadians -during thé Second Worild War, but afte; hi;iforced résignation
from .the Cabinet in the fall of 1944 he ceased to play a prominent public
role and was largely forgotten. Histori?ns,<w0fking within the tradit10n~//
'aI framework of Liberal-national ynity historiography, have been content g
to stereotype Ra]stohyasign Empire-minded conscriptionist whose policies
threatened nétiona] unity. No biogréphy of this major Canadiaﬁ politican
has been written and no schoﬁar1y article seriously examining Ralston's
policies has appeared.

Although this thesis was originally intended to examine Ralston’s full

term as Minister of National Defence, the complexity of the issues involved

and the comprehensive nature of the primary source material necessitated a

reducfion in the sgope of the paper. It was thereforéj&ecideﬁ that this
study of Ralstdn would be confined to a detailed examination of the period

+ from Ralston's appointment to the Cabinet to the con5cription ¢risis of 1942
which léd to Ralston's letter of regignation from the Cabinet. In addition,
it was decided to retain a biographical chapter on Ralston's formative years
including material on his experiences in the First World War which are of
vitai importance in understanding his basic values. Ralston’s letter of
resignation, not to be accepted-by the Prime Minister until the second con-
scription crisis of 1944, sérges as an event which allows the author to reach
some interim conclusions about Ralston's role in the wartime administration -

of Canada.
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INTRODUCTION e

—

One of the most persistent features 0% Canadian historiography has
been the tendéncy to e;p1ain past events as being an expression of Canada's
elusi@e national character. Uﬁfortuﬁate1y, one's perception of the com-
position of the Canadian entity often obscures thé context in which a par-
ticufar incident takes place. While it would be dangerous to dismiss the

importance of the linguistic and cultural duality which has existed, and

‘continues to exist, between French and English Canadians, it would be equally

undesirable to place an undue emphasis upon this dichotomy in interpreting

-«

' Canada's past. The 'two nations' approach involves making broad generaTizés

tions about Quebec and the rest of the country, and ignores regional dif-

 ferences within English Canada. The attempt to maintainunational unity acquires

a disproportionately prominent role in the process, while any events which
threaten the quicate balance of Confederation are viewed with disdain and
suspicion,

W The extent of Canadian participation in World War [I has generally
been historically perceivéd within the 't@o nations' framework. For French
Canadian nationalists, involvement i% the war was indicative of the subor-
dinate role of Quebec in the fédera1 gtructure as wéi1 as English Canada's

continued allegiance to Britaiqr Extreme imperialist English Canadian opiniép

P .
" believed that the war effort was being grossly restricted by an effort to

appease Quebec. The role of the federal government was to conciliate these
diametrically opposed interests and to avoid any threat to national unity.
Such an equation, atthough valid in many respects, inevitably encourages the

proliferation of vague generalizations.

«1-




The perceptionlof James Layton Ralston's involvement in the
Mackenzie King wartime government has been somewhat distorted because of
the emotional impact of the conscription issue. Ralston's advocacy  of
trlg policy of compelling 15,000 men to be sent overseas as infantry rein-
forcements during October 1944 has received far more attention tham have
some of his more *‘importan‘ contributions to thé national war effort. From
the moment that he entered the Cabinet in September of 1939, Ralston played
a pivotal role in determining the composition of Canada's participation
in World War II. In focussing upon Ralston's behaviour in the Cabinet prior.
to his first major conflict with King,*it will be possible to place Ralston's
subsequent actions in a clearer context.
 One danger when dealing with Ralston is the temétat‘ion to dismiss him
"as a typical conscription-favouring imp\griaiist.] Ralston was much more com-
plex than such a description would suggestr.\For example, Ralston was op-
posed 1;6 the subordination of Canadian interests tvo thoeof the British Em-
pire. His sentiments concerning Canada's position vis-a-vis that of Great:
Britain were best expressed in a 1944 letter to his son, Stuart:
[A minister] prayed this mbrning for Mr. Churchill and
his colleagues of the United Kingdom, for the Dominions
and for President Roosevelt. The rest of us are either
past praying for or are not-worth it. How long, 0 Lord,
how long before some Englishman will understand the
implications of the Statute of Westminister....In the
words of 01d Man River "Ah gets weary and sick o'tryin'"
to help demonstrate that colonial status is as outworn -
f , as diapers for a full-grown man. ['m going to start a
school for backward Bri taifs pretty soon.
It would appear that Ralston was more than a little sensitive about the

subjECi.

A

A U - - e e e oty




. -3
b X .
fal

If Ralston did not conform to the traditional beliefs of an imperia-
list, he.was also irrefutably not a 'knee-jerk' conscriptionist. He was pre-
pared to resort 7tx‘) compulsion fo}* overseas service only if it becam other-
wise impossible to recruit the necessary manpower. The experience that Ral-
ston had as a frontline soldier in World War I, rather than making him more
favourably disposed towards c":onscripﬁon,‘caused Ralston to value the advan-

o tages of commanding volunteers as opposed to conscripts. Once again, i t'is
in a 1944 letter to his son Stuart that Ralston revealed his opinion on
the subject:

" As 1 told the House. the other day, some people are not
concerned with getting the men, aTl they are concerned with
is getting.the men by consc¢ription. In other words, it's
the means, not the end, which seems to count with them. .
They won't be satisfied no matter how many volunteers we get;
that doesn't raise the devil sufficiently to suit them....
» My job is to maintain our Army overseas. [ think it is a
better army if it is_a volunteer army like Australia and
South Africa. If the volunteer system works, and I am
going to keep trying to make it work,-then my job is done.
If it doesn't work, then I have no alternative but to recommend
the other system, although I have had my own experience}n
the last war of inspecting conscripts beside volunteers.
Expressed in this manner, it would be difficult to argue that Ralston's
position on conscription was based solely upon emotion.

Nhﬂe Ralston did not possess the characteristics usually associated ~

_with a conscriptionist or an imperialist, he did suffer from a highly refined
sense of duty and a profound commitment to the Canadian volunteer army.
Throughout their relationship, Mackenzie King would attempt—to manipulate -
Ralston by appealing to the jlatter"s perception of responsibility. [ronically,
it was Ralston's feeling of moral obligation which was ultimately responsible
for the widening schism that developed between the two men. As Minister of
National Defence, Ralston was the spokesman for the Canadian Army in the King

Cabinet. In this capacity he sought to mobilize an army that was as largeas




manpower resources would permit, As'the army expanded, Ra15tan'belieﬁed

-4- )
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| ‘ ‘
that the government and the people of Canada were bound updn principle -

‘to support and maintain every volunteer unit which had been agtﬁprizgd.

[P

Because King did not share this conviction. the two men found themselves

* -increasingly at odds as the pressure of the warrintensified.

The following bages are devoted to a study"bf Ralston's paréicipation
in thg War Cabinetuup to}vand including, his threatened resignation in
July 1942. The first chapﬁer deals with Ralston’s experiences prior to
enzering the Cabinet in September 1939. In the second chapter, Ralston's
tenure as Minister of Finance is chronicled, with an emphasis upon Ralston's
conservative approach to financial éommitments in the early stages of the
war, Changr three involves Ralston's first months as Minister of National
Defence, and his efforts to obtain~appr0v31 for the 1941-42 Army Programme.
The final chapter examines‘the many difficulties which Ralston had in adminis-
téring the Army Programme, u1timate1¥ climaing in a major confrontation ~
with King. By the conclusion of chapter four, the érmy has reached its
maxiﬁuﬁ>state of expansion and the parameters for. all future disputes be-

tween King and Ralston have been established.




[N ]

NOTES

Y

1. One prominent Canadian historian to yield to this temptation was
Jack Granatstein, who observed that: "Emotionally, Ralston was a conscrip-
tionist. A front Tine.sohibr*inthg Great War. a supporter of the Union
Government of 1917, a convinced believer in the virtues of Empire, he
could be nothing else." See: Jack L. Granatstein, Canada's War: The Politics

of the Mackenzie King Government, 1939 1945, (Tbronto Oxford Un1vers1ty

Press, 1975) p.202. _ g

2. Letter, J. L. Ralston to Stuart Ralston, July 2, 1944, James L. 0"
Ralston Papers, MG 27 I1I B 11, Vol. 4, Public Archives of Canada [PAC].

3. Letter, J.L.Ralston to Stuart Ralston, June 15, 1944, Ralston Papers,
vol. 4, [PAC] .
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»—‘consentysas given with the understanding that hé‘wouid return gﬁ private -

Chapter I.
The Reluctant Pglitican ’ ! . CoL

e,

;
o

] It would be an impossible task to analyze the' performance of
Colonel/dames Layton Ralston in the Mackenzie King War Cabinet without
underétandin@ Ralston's situation prior to rejoiningfthe government in

1939. The manner in which‘Rafstun conducted himselfl as a senior Cabinet

Minister was inexorably connected to his previdus eiperienqes in politics,

the military and pfivate life, - R% a front-Tine battalion commander in

World War I, Ralston witnessed the horrors ofaarmed*conflﬂct and developed

a profouﬁd empathy for the common soidier In his'tenure as a po11t1c1an,

Ralston refined his adm1n1strat1ve sk1l1s, but demdnstrated that he had

littfe patience for the mundane necessity of gett1ng elected Most s1gn1fi-

cant1y Ralston s self-made legal career allowed h1m the 1ndependence to

! v1ew politics as a hobby. During the 1930's, Ra1st0n made a f1na] decision

to tota11y abandon.politics in order to devote aV] of his attention to an

extreme1y 1ucrat1ve law practice. A]thoqgh K1ng perSUaded hfm that it was

" his patriotic duty to becom®a member of the Nar5Cabinet in 1939, Ralston's

- ®

life Nhenghostilities terminated. W{th no amb1ﬁ1on to enhance his political

status, Ralston could rot be gémpted to subord1nate principle to career ad-

Consequently, for the duration of the war, Ralston was resgopsible’

vancement: 5 )
. ’ - ; &
primarily to his own conscience. ' ) : " '

" There was .1ittle indication in Ralston's early'lifévthat he would

i

possess the opportunity to become a figure of national prominence. On
-6e - , D e
&), : *
A/}K\ .
= -
R | [ - -
|
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September 27‘, 1881,he was born in the quiet town of Amherst, Nova Scotia,
the son of Burnei:t William and Bessie Chipman Ralston. Both of Ralston's
parents were descendants of United, Empire Lﬁy—aﬁsts who had left New Eng-
land following the Ar%ierican Revclut’icn.l Ralston was named after his mé%évna]
gr‘éndfather‘, James M. Laﬂoniwho was well known in Amherst for his involve-
meni with the First Baptist Church, Ralston shared his namesake's dedication
to Christianity and 'thé Baptist church, remaining a 1ifelong church goer
and t:fee’tf:“t:aﬂle-r.2 Although difficult to quantify, Ralston's faith was $o
intense that it must have irzﬂuenced‘i‘n\is conduct in public affairs.

| The Ralston family's involvement in politics was extensive, but it .
was Timited to local matters. Burnett Ralston was a 'mqbe’r of the initial
Amherst Town Council in 1889, eventually served as méyor ‘ﬁ')r one term, and
was -the local postmaﬁter fér‘ about éO years. [Described by' the Amherst g_e_sig
gﬁfESl_eqjijnéT as "a man of strong convictions and of courage to ‘express" them" ,
the elder Ralston must have been responsible for instilling his son with

these c.;uaﬂ*i‘cies‘“3 It was his father's desire that Lay ton should remain in

Amherst and aid in the opevation of the family grocery store.a’ Young Ralston,

however, was too ambitious to be content with such a comparatively sedate vo-
cation, and sought a more challenging future.

Ralston was supported in his aspiration for a professional career

by his mother and her cousin, Hance J. Logan. A member of the federal House

of Commons for Cumberland, Logan was also a successful lawyer, having offices

1{1 Amherst and Parrsboro. Eventually Bessie Ralston and Logan were able to
persyade éa?ston'g f’ather;tthat Layton should be peﬁni tted to study law “N,“i th
Logan's fi rrms Ralston's ,vlegal preparations were successfully completed when.
after having read Taw with Logan and Jenks from 1898 to 1903, he graduated
from 6a"’lhousie‘ Law School and was called to the Nova Scotia Bar on March 10,
6

1903.7 During his apprenticeship Ralston was described as 'a whale for work',




e ——

when he studied constantlya and even assumed the janitorial dumes of the
oﬁficrs:e7 Ralston's capacity for hard work, characterized by a weticulous
attention to detail and a tendency ;‘to work Tdng‘hdmjs:; became the trait for
which he was best known Tater in life. “
.F'o“liowing his admission;to"‘the Bar in 1903, Ralston Qpracficed Taw
in Amherst until 1913. He became é partner in h;s uncle's firm j“‘n 12}9(]3, and
- the partnership. remai’ped Loegan, Jenks and Ralston unt”‘i”i 1909 \f;hen; 'i-_t became
simply Logaﬁ and Ralston. Politics and the legal profession aré very c"ll\cjéely
related in Nova Scotia, and \;n' th his uncle's iQnFTuence and‘persuasioa, 'it was v
1 hot surprising that the young 1a\:4yer would eventually become 'involvw}ed in |
seeking elected offiée.s Ralston received his finst experience 01; poh‘tica]
action in the federal election gj]QGB!, when he ran as 'au'Liberqi‘ candidate in
his home riding of Cutﬁbeﬂand. Although his uncle .Hahce had been victorious
for the Liberals in the Same riding in thg three 'pmviops elections, Ralston .
Tost the contest by appfoximateiy 5% of the popular vo"ce.9 In épi te “of the
lengthy term of electoral office that Ra1ston would gompﬂe his’ de“feat in 1908
was by no means an aberratmn‘ 0f the eight federa'] or provincial elections -
in which he wou’igd un ‘that'wére contested, he wou’ld lose a tota'l of four timess
The preference which Ralston had for his legal career over his political
“activities becgime apparent in 1911. In dﬁne, Ralston hadL had his first success .
at the polls when he won a seat i\‘én the Nova Scotia ‘legi’si“a)tur‘é:‘ representing
Cumberland.m Despite- this victory, Raistgn Wwas betmming dissat‘i%ﬁéd with
his Tegal practice in Amherst foﬂbwing ‘hig unc»ié's departure f'rjom‘the Fivm,
Consequently, he began to i@ok eTséwher‘e for an éppnrtuni ty to increase his
-business. The rapidly expanding city of Winnipeg provided a natuval attraction
to a young lawyer in Ralston's position and he seriously LOﬂtEﬁlD]Elted abana
donmng his Maritime roots and woving to the "Gateway to the west“ Lhar_he
Burchell, a fellow lawyer and a close personal friend heared of Ralston's in-

w

e e me= &
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“tention to move west, and, in a letter dated November 10, 1911, attempted

to persuade his colleague to remain at home:

If there was any certainty as to the amount of work we

‘would get in Halifax, 1 do not think you_ would have any
hesitation in deciding where you would prefer to live.

The trouble is that you would probably be offered a certainty
in Winnipeg and will only have more or less of an uncertainty -
in Halifax. However, I have very little doubt that we can get
a1l the work we want in a very few months, and in the mean'_
time, there would be enough in the bus*qess we now have im
Ha]ifax and Sydney to keep us qoing. o . - :

Not only did Burchell sycceed in dissuading Ralston from leaving Nova Scotia,
but the two friends formed a partnérsh%p in Halifax in 1912 that would last
until 1926. : “

‘Ralston’s move to H311Fax in 1912 shou1d have coincided with a per10d

~of stab111ty in his profess10na1 and family T1ife. Now th1rty-one years of

age, Ralston had been married for five years to Nettie Winnifred McLeod. The

marriage was to prove to be a solid one, SUExingg/Ra1sfxﬁP§”fﬁmuTt6u§ career
and long working hours. The cnﬁp?e wasr;;;arded with one son, Stuart, who
remained in close contact with his parents throughout‘théir lives, incluéing‘
during his service overseas in World War II. Ralston's new Jaw firm, in
addition to allowing him to erk with Burchell, provided a valuable connection
fe the uppef echelons of the !!bef$1 party through the firm's senior partner,
A.K.Maclean. Uﬁen it is considered that Ralston also possessed a seat in
the provincial legislature, it would apﬁéar that the grocer's son from Amherst
‘had attained a position of prémfnence and security. ‘Unfortunateiy, it was the
wrong decade in the worlds history for a‘younﬁ man to avoid being exposed
to some of the most unsettiing experiences imaginable.

- As the diplomatic situation in Europe deteriorated in 1914, it became

evident that war could not be averted. Britain's declaration of war was fol-

. ]owed by a similar action on behalf 6? the Canadfan“government, with the re-

sult that Canadians were requested to serve and sacrifice 1n a conf11ct wh1ch

‘many individuals bel1eved d?d not directly affect natjonal 1nterests Be-
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cause of the perceived imperialistic nature of World War I, EngTisthanadian
volunteers for overseas service have beeﬁ'subsequentIQ‘categbviZed aé éilia
taristic British 1ﬁperiaiistss Nhenvone;refefs to Ralston's wo%1d War [
" background, itﬁjg;ggch a Stereotypé thatqis often implied. Ralston, however,
o ' didfn6£§;;;;gythe misconception fhat Br{tain would quickly win the war or that
Oﬂ;FShOUTd autoﬁatica?Ty enlist. Ralston underwent an intense personal struggle
“when coﬁsidéring whetherrbr‘ﬁct to volunteer.

It is possible to obtain Ralston's feé1%ngs about Wortd War 1 from
Jetters which he wrote .to various members of his family. In a letter to his

parents in late November, ]914 Ralston demonstrated an uncertainty about

uﬁether he and his brother, - Ivan should en11st

I talked over with [van the propostion oF enlisting. with the
. Overseas Contingent, He seemed to feel that it was his duty
to do it and that he should leave to the Medical Examining
Officer the question as to whether he was acceptable phy-
sically. As I pointed out to him that was all right prov1ded
the Medical Examining Officer knew as much as Ivan did about
his condition, but the chances were that he would not. He
promised me he would put the matter before the Examiner just
‘as fully as it was poss1bie to do so, in case he did 4o up
for examination. Meantime, I wrote Dr. Gibney as to Ivan's '
physical fithess and had a letter from his [sic] just this
last week in which he practically said that violent exercise
would probably 1ight the disease up again and that he did not
think he was acceptable or that any Medical Officer woyld
pass him. [ sent his letter to Ivan. I feel that he will
give up the idea altogether. Meantime, we are-drilling here
to be ready for anything that comes along. Sometimes [ feel
that my- place is in a more active sphere than this, and if
I hadn't a wife and boy, I know that there would be no two
opinions in my own mind as to where my duty lay. It is hard
for one to be sure of oneself and to be satisfied that one
is not simply using one's duties here simply as a shelter
" or an excuse far not undertaking the more strenuous duty
elsewhere. 1 ‘haven't by any means made up my mind yet. I
have talked a 1ittle with Nettie. and she naturally. feels
that the call is not so urgent that I should in a sense
) gbandon my duties here to her and to Stuart yet. She does «»4LV~
. ] fot put it that way, but I know she feels it. I know she
! , would be willing if she believed it were right for me to do
it. So far I can only tell her that if she wants to join

——— .
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in mak1ng a contr1but10n I would Tike to be the other
- half of it. I feel that my business is so different from that
of most people. [ wouldn't throw anybody out of work by
leaving and my fam11y are not quite so dependent on my actual
presence here for their comfort as some are: and my going
might influence some others at ‘least. On the other hand,
" my duty may be right here; but it is such a pleasant duty
that 1 almost deubt its genuineness as a legitimate alter-
- native to the other. This is only for you two; quite
[ possibly nothing may come of it. 1 can say this that so
\ far as my personal inclination and serenity of mind goes,
-1 th1nk T would much prefer the front to staying under the
- ¢constant doubt as to whether I was restrained by duty or by
“simple cowardice. - This may-go to show that the hardest task
is not to go: and that therefore that is what I am to do.

I' felt the other evening when speaking to Nettie that
T was simply giving her something to worry over, and now ‘
that 1 have written this, [ am doing the same thing with-
you - unless you will take it simply as a little 1ntrospect1on

- out loud on a subject on which I haven't any strong convic-

- tions: i only a desire to do what is rlght Don't worry over it
because [ assure you any conclusion [ come to will be because
I think honestly it is right. I have thought enough about -
it to know and believe that I have no personal fear of going
if I should and on the other hand, I am not going to let
myself be stampeded into wronging Nettie and Stuart for whese
comfort and happiness I am responsible, unless the other duty
is in truth the greater one. “

In spite of Ralston's interference with regards to-his brother's
imedical condition. Ivan enlisted in the Canadian Expeditionary Force the

following June. Ralston wrote to his parents in an effort to lessen the§r~

fears about Ivan's safety, and in so doing he offered some philosophical

observations about the war:

The outstand1ng feature of the week past to me, and [
suppose to us all, is Ivan's definite move in taking -up his
work with the C.E.F. We haye all I guess half expected it
notwithstanding the fact that his physical fitness was in
doubt. He is, I believe, following the highest impulses

in him and where that is the case, can we do anything but
say God bless him and make it just as easy as we can for
him. I know he is not doing it for any love of adventure
or in disregard of the Jove he has for us, but he thinks
that he has a more compelling call and is entering on its
response just as solemnly as a man can. Waht [sic] we wish
fs not that he should refuse to do what he believes to be .
his duty but only that the awful conditions out of which
the duty has arisen should end. .I am afraid the end
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- isn't for awhile yet, and that this is a part of our con-
- tribution towards the bringing about of that end. What
further we may feel we should do is a question which only
the future can answer. The comfort to you just be that
you have a son who dares to do the thing he believes in T .
and that through him you have given your best. We are .
thinking big thoughts these days and things of time and
space have assumed relatively small propositions [sic] com-
. pared with the future of the world and the part we are
- having and can have in it. The solemn deliberate sacri-
fices that are being made must bring.their just and in-
evitablie result in the re-moulding of human tendencies
and desires and the realization that our scale of values
has been all wrong. This very year 1915 will., I believe,
mark_a distinct change in the kind of currency in which
the thing worth while will be measured, Mr. Cohoe [an
associate of Ralston's] has asked thé question more than
" once whether the people of progress can alter their ideals
of what is valuable in 1ife, and I believe the answer is
being realized - and you dear people are helping to make
that answer emphatic. Lét it help you to know that Ivan will
bring nothing but honour to you:... Don't worry, just be-
lieve that everything will be right - not?ing matters so
much if we do the thing we ought to de. 13 -

Ralston's decision to enli'st was finally confirmed in the following

month. Hjs mativation for reaching such a conciusion was complex. At n6 ) i
tiﬁe in his correspondence with his parents did Ralston explicitly mention

a 1oya1ty‘6r duty to the Brgtish Empire. While Ralston undeniably felt

some éttachmgnt to‘Britain, ft wpuld not appear to have‘seri0usly influenced

his appraisal of the situation. Aware of the sacrifice that it would involve

: ] ik
for his family, ‘Ralston's enlistment was based largely upon a perception of
- ~} i

his domestic responsibility as a public figure in Nova Sco&iq. It is ob- ‘
vious that Ralston never suffered from romantic de]usions_&:f military adven-
ture. ﬁhi1e training to become a Lieutenant in July, 19[5, Ralston advised
his‘parents_of his ﬁesolytion‘to volunteer: ) 5'

» You no doubt ask why I am training. [t is simply to be ready.
I am expecting that very soon there will be néed and oppor-
tunity for an example to be set to those who have not yet
‘felt that they should go, and [ feel that I could do something
to influence recruiting if I can say come with me, instead of
9o and 1'11 stay home. 1 argued it out at length in a former
letter but now there seems the additional and the strongest

|
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reason of all, namely the need to do everything possible
to see that this Province does -its share in recruiting and
1 am afraid that people are beginning to think that those
who are in more or less public positions- and who should be
preaching by example are content to do theéir work-by pre-

t cept and like Mark Twain sacrificing his wife's relations,

! they suggest with much fervour that everybody but them-

% selves should go. I have no definite place as yet. The

{ course will take four weeks more and after that I wouid

" like to take a Captaincy so as to be as well-equipped as
possible. No doubt the opportunity will come soon enough.
Needless to say, the prospect is not pleasing to Nettie
altho she is as loyal and brave as a4 woman could be. She
wants me to be very sure of my duty, but after. that she
makes her contribution if it must be. 1 think about you .
dear people and believe me, I count my duty to you as well,
but, any instincts of duty I have, I 9ot from you. and I
don't think you would wish me to be heedless of the call
when it comes. Nettie has said that we have been too
happy and this is what is coming to blot it all out, but
when we think that we might have been sick or physically
unfit to do our part, we surely should be thankful that YE'
“have sound bodies and are in a position to do something.

It was not until October, 1916, thét Ralston's battalion was despatched
cvérseas. By this time Ralston had risen to the rank of Major with the
85th Infantry Battalion. Nova Scotia Highlanders. The battalion experienced
iis first action in February, 1917, and had little relief unti? the Armistice
v was signed. Ralstoa served continuously with the 85th, participating %n
some of the most intense engagements which the war prbducéd, including

15

The Somme, Vimy Ridge, Hill 70, Pass>chendaele and Amiens. Ralston quickly

acquired a good reputation as a soldier, receiving the Distinguished:Service
, g
Order in dJune,1917, for "conspicuous gallantry and devotion to duty -in

16

' operations which included the capture of a vf1]ége." _ In the battle, Ral-

~ ston had been ordered off the field after havingkbeen wounded, but he reer

turned to the action because the battalion was lacking officers.17 -
In December of 1917, a bitter election was fought in Canada over iﬁtro-

duging conscription through the Military Service‘Act._ Ralston's support

for Prime Minister Robgrt Borden's Unionists has often beén viewed as an in-

dication that Ralston was truly a‘gonscriptionist‘at heart. There can be
? : - : :

e " S
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no doubt that Ralston fayouréd compulsory service in 1917, Uuring the -

middle of the election campaign, he sent a teTegfam to thé Halifax Herald

_which plainly sfaped that: "1 strongly favour the immediate operation of
the Military Services Act, and hope Nova Scotia will heavily support can-

didates pledged to that poh'::y.“]8 The Halifax Herald made optimum use

of the telegram, introducing it with a substantial headline which read
Co i i :

"From the Trenches Major Ralston APPEALS To Nova Scotians At Home." Con-
sidéring tﬁe severe emotional and physical circumstances in which Ralston
was placed at the time, it is not surprising that he would support conscrip-
tion. He later recalled the 85th's state of affairs in December, 1917:

When that telegram was sent, I, as an officer of a
battalion, had had the experience of receiving men from
dismantled battalions from all over Canada - units which
_had had to be broken up in order to provide reinforcements
to replace casualtfes. At that time the battle of
Passechendaele had just been fought and the Canadian corps
had been decimated. The casualties in my own battalion
in the two days we were engaged numbered b?tween four and
five hundred, of which 138 were killed. N

e

'Foﬂowiﬁg‘tﬁé@ars Ralston was affgrded the 6pportunity of analyzing
conscription in a more Aetachedlatmosphere,Awith the advantage of”realiz‘
ing the ‘nature of the domestic and military liabilities inherent in such
a policy.

+ As the war progressed in 1918, Ralston's military accomplishments
iﬁcreésed In April he was g{ven command of the 85th Battalion, a posi-
7t1on which he he]d until demobilization. 20 In a peculiar arrangement,
Ivan was app01nted to the 85th as Ralston's second-in-command in June.
Consequently, when Ralston was wounded at the battle of Amiens, Ivan had
to assume command of the battalion. With his right foot and left leg
severely lacerated by a sniper's bullet, Ralston was forced to withdraw
to a hospital bed in Rouen for almost a month. On the first day of his

confinement Ralston wrote to his parents to inform them of his injury and
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of Hhis gratitude that Ivan was in charge of the 85th:

The doctors say that it will take four to six weeks
—to make me a soldier again - meantime I am wondering how
- lvan is getting on. I know he is getting on all right
so far, as leading the battalion is concerned, but whether
he is all right is what I am thinking of. The battalion
was to continue the advance the day after I Teft-and I
fear that they would meet pretty determined resistance.
I am trying to find out if anybody from ours came into
this hospital last night, but it is'such a big place
that it is not at all easy. Like you dear people at
home, I am just hoping for the best.  Is the greatest
e comfort in the world to me to have Ivan in command from
- the point of view of the battalion, He has fitted in
as if he had always been there and his experience has
been of wonderful value to us. He has done the thinking
and the work too while I have let things run on only
putting in a word here and there....You are E?d should
be proud of him as a fine soldier and son.

Ralston's reservations about his brother's safety were well-founded. Later
in the same day that he had advised his parents that he had been wounded,

Ralston learned that-fvan had been killed while Teading a frontal attack.

e

e

- against a group of m§ch1ne gunners. Ralston relayed the tragic news to his
parents in a obowerful and moving letter:

. . The sun has gone out of life in an instant - since I wrote
you this morning [ have found that two of our officers
Lt. Chipman and Rogers (Arthur) are here - I sent to them
for word of the battalion, and the stunning blow comes in the
word that Ivan has gone. 1 have cabled you immediately
so that you would have it before that terrible official cable.
How my heart aches for you both. This boy was the dearest
to me of any man in the world but my father. He was to we
the embodiment of manliness and soldierliness. His dis-
appointments in his soldier's life hever seemed to dampen
his enthusiasm for the course he had taken up. His coming
as second in command to me was as I told him a thing which
most men would regard as a humiliation but-he assured me,
and I believe him, that nothing of that sort entered into :
his mind or heart. He took up the work .of the battalion -
with his whole soul and any success the battalion may have
in the present struggle is largely due to his work . . . .

To me the sorrow is too deep for tears. He knew what
I thought of him and [ don't think any itwo brothers ever loved
each other more. We never had to talk of our Keelings

o,
e

e -
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towards each other. We never said goodbye to each other”
but just went out one or the other as the case might be
with a good luck and nothing more. We b&th knew the

. possibilities and what they meant to us and we both knew
what the other thought about as we parted.

The two months that we have been together have been
the happiest for me since I have been with the battalion
and how I shalT miss him no one knows. The constant
5e91ng of men with whom one has been associated go out of
one's 1ife has not dulled the pangs which these partings
bring and when the man who is now taken is my brother whom
I loved and admired it is hard to find comfort, -but the com-
fort is as I cabled you in the glory of his splendid life
and his soldierly and heroic death. We don't think.of men
dying under these circumstances. They are always alive
in the battalion and in the Tlives of those of us who are left
and history in the years to come will give them the place
they deserve as lemancipators of the world. .

Q I hope father and mother that you too will see a gleam

| comfort through this greatest trouble of your lives and

[ 'am very very sincere when [ say that [ believe that after
the first shock hasspent itself, you will not sorrow because
it is just what Ivan wouldn't want. Think of his 1ife and

his manliress and his courage and his splendid ability to do
the tasks he had to do and believe that these, instead of being
wasted have been put to the uses which the Great Father of us
all intended and that his work so far as physical activity is
done, but the influence and example of his life is endless.

I can simply tell you that your sorrow and distress is mine
and the pride and honor in his life and work is for all of

us. [ hope earnestly you may see it as I do and be comforted.

- My fondest love to you both and my prayer that your first
sadness may be replaced by confidence and hope and belief . -
in the Supreme plan of it aitl. Rt

Mother, I know Ivan would rather ygu/wouT//not ao in
mourning for him - he knew you leved him and he would so
much rather you woq/d think of him as living in the Truer

Sense . €. /22

— .
T

—— K11 of Ralston's persona1 military achievements were tarnished by the loss

of his brother. The month of Ivan's death coincided with Ralston's being

awarded the Bar to the Distinguished Service Order and his promotion to

23

Lieutenant-Colonel. He was also recommended for the Victoria Cross for“f\

rescuing § wounded junior officer while under fire at Champoux, but he did

L
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not receive the award because the higher authorities ruled that a

24 1t was not

commanding officer should not risk his 1ife unnecessarily.
until 1924, well after hostilities had ceased, that Ralston was gazetted
2 full colonel. By the time that Relston returned to civilian life fol-
lowing demobilization he hgg been wounded four times, seen his Nova Scotia
HighTander Battlion decimated, and lost his brother. While Ralston de-
veloped a profound empathy for the plight of the front-line soldier during
Worid War I, he did not nurture a corresponding amenity towards war itseif.
Gratton Q'Leary, a prominent, Conservative-sympathizing, Ottawa columnist,
accurately assessed Ralston's contribution in World War I: "he feught with
distinction (though not-as a militant or patrioteer) in Ihe Great War.
‘Ralston of fhe 85th’ meant something in the Canadian Corps. w25
- The political environment which Ralston returned to in Canada 1n -

1919 had undergone a temporary transbrmation, Prior_to-being despatched

overseas, Ralston had succeésfg]1y/nun/f6¥/}é;e1ectiﬁn to the Naova Scotia

26, However, the post-war period '

1egislatyrg/in,Eumbéngﬁarin June, 1916.
e /{E/ﬁéét of English-speaking Canada had witnessed the development of an anti-
pathy towards theitraditional political parties. Labour unrest and agrarian
revolt had combinked in an unprecedented manner to defeat the 1ncumbent
ConServat1ve government in Dntar1o in 1919 Similar forces were present in
the Nova Scotia election of June’, 1920. The Liberals had little difficulty,
in winniﬁg the election, but the farm-labour candidates won 27% of the popu-
lar vote. In Cumberland.a thréeﬁﬁémber ridiég, Ralston lost his seat to
a coalition of farme? and labour candidates. 27 Temporarily removed from
e1ected office, Ralston focussed his attention on practicing law with

Charlie Burche11 in Halifax.




From the‘time of his defeat in the provincial election untii 1926,
Ralston possessed)one major distraction from his legal firm. The dis-
traction was in the‘form of a short,unathletic man of rather singular
personal habits. Ralston had first met<ﬁilliam Lyon Mackenzie King at
the National Liberal Convéntionq*p Augdst,lng 28 It wasrat this convention
that King was selected party 1eader a pos1t1on that he w0u1d hold until
1948. The Liberal party had been severely split over tbe—censcr1pt1on issue

in the 1917 election, with many prOmiﬁent/ﬁarty members joining the

Unipnist government of Robert Borden 28 King, who added a new dimension to

the term shrewd was aware of the political advantages to be gained bv
-
hav1ng a cand1date with Ralston's military record, 30 Consequently, King

began ‘to attemnt to persuade Ralston to enter federal politics, but Ralston
cont1nua11y declined.

The first correspondence that passed between King and Ralston is -
indicati&e of the type of reiétioéship which would continue to exist between
the two for the remainder of their careers. Ralston wrote to King in an
effort to have the Leader of the Oppositibn express an unequivocal position
on the issue of cash bonuses being provided to returned soldiers:

As 1 suppose you already appreciate, returned soldiers

N are watching with a very great deal of interest, to see
what attitude the Opposition will take respecting the
claims which have been put forward by the G.W.V.A.
[Great War Veteran's Association] as to assistance to be
granted in connection with repatriation and civil re-
establishment. .

As you remember the [National Liberal] Convention
went on record as favoring repatriation by a system of
cash bonuses, and with this in view. I feel that the
scheme advocated by the G.W.V.A. is entitled to the united
support of the Opposition. :

King, the master of the process of conciliation, explained, to Ralston that

the matter was before a parliamentary committee:

i

e — -




~on Pensions and Re-establishment in 1922,

@ SR :

Under the circumstances, [ am sure you will agree that
, the attitude of the Opposition toward the Committee’s
Report will necessarily depend in no inconsiderable
measure upon the views and opinions of its members on the
Committee. The whole matter is one we are carefutly
considering at the gghent. Your letter. therefore. is
most opportune. e
Apparently the contrast between Ralston's -plain, straightforward approach
and King's policy of delay and compromise had early origins.
Iﬁ preparation for his first national election as party leade%,
King went on a speaking tour to various parts of the country. Lacking‘
a Tieutenant in the Maritimes, King requested that Ralston accompany him
to functions in Charlottetown and St. John ¥ Ralston declined the of-
fer, sending a telegram to King stat%ng that "while appreciating"sin-

.34 Ralston's

ceréiy the invitation regret not possible to accept.
“absence from the platform votwithstandingi King's Libe}a1s wq:; on to —
win the 1921 election, forming a minority government with the suppérf
"of the Progressive Party. : o
From earlier correspondence Kingawas aware that‘Ra1stcn ppsseésed ‘
a kegn interest ip policiés related to veteréns' affairs. Cbnsequent1y_

Prime Minister King apponted Ralston as Chairman of the Royal Commission

B 1¢ the position was intended —

as an inducement to procure Raistgn's candidacy for the next election, it

- o .-
was to prove to be unsuccessful. King requested that Ralston run for

-

federal office in a letter dated September 21, 1923:

If your candidature can be secured, I think the moment ‘ : i
has come when we might meet the wishes of one of our

best friends in the matter of an appointment which he

is anxious to have, and at the same time secure your

immediate election. If the desire expressed to you is

to be realized at an early date - as it.-is my hope it may - . - N

il
!

j'; '
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1 think it is all important that you should enter the
House of Commons at once and cause your influence
to be felt there.

N The allusion which King makes to appointing a friend to a particular
position is probably a reference to offering a Senate position To a
sitting member in a solid Libera1 seat, in an effort to provide an
opening for Ralston. Despite King's best efforts to arrange a secure |
nomination for him, Ralston once again declined to run. -

The following two years represented a microcosm of Ralston's life.
In typical fashion, he lost an electign, practiced law and served as an
advocate of war veterans' interests. In 1924,Ralston became incensed
over the Failufe of the Civil Service to employ an adequate number of ex-
servicemen. ' Although the'Civi} Servic§ Act guaranteed a certain percen-
tage of aVBiJéble jobs to veterans, a large number of positions were re-
moved from the jurisdiction of the Act and given to various Departmental
officials. LUnfértunater, the officials often ignorgd the preference
' - which was supposed to be extended to ex-servicemen and hired on the basis -
‘of patronage. In a letter to King and the Minister of Just%ce, Ernest
t:Lapointe,;Ralston vented his frustration:
It may be argued and with some force that there should be
some safety valve whereby a certain limited amount of
) patronage can be extended, and that the point to be em-
- g -phasized is that in a.great majority of cases the appoint-
- ment is under the Civil Service Commission, and that in over
75% of these appointments ex-servicemen are given-the pre-
" ference. The difference of 15% in appointments made by
Departments, and 75% in appointments made by the Commission,
certainly leaves a very generous margin. and as one who
has taken as genuine the assurances of the country concern-

ing the consideration given ex-servicemen, I am not a§ all
convinced that this great discrepancy is justified. °7
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Aside fyom Raision receiving an appeasing "‘letfer from King, it is difficult
to know A1:0 what extent Ralston's objection was acknowledged.

The ‘Fortune‘s of the Liberal party in Nolva Scotia suffered considerabiy
in 1925. The Liberals had formed the government in .the provincé for the

38 In a dramatic swing,

forty=three yearsxwhich preceded the June election.
the electorate vi rfpaﬂy annihilated the Liberals, returning only three

Liberal candidates tp the forty-three seat 1eg’isiatureagg

The. Conservatives,
who won all but two %of the remaining seats, were jubilant and eagérj y awaited
the upcoming federal election. Ralston was ong of the many défeatéd Liberail
gpandérd bearers , having once again failed to obtain one of Cumberiand's

4 After receiving the intelligence that King was contemplating

a fall election, Ralston wrote to the Prime Minister in an effort to persuade

him to wait until the “Fc)’l“]owing year:

As President of our Liberal Association. 1 Jhave talked with .
a number of prominent friends in Noya Sgotla and those whom |
have consulted are 4 unit in feeling that so far as Nova
Scotia is concerned, a Federal Election this fall would be
most inadvisable. At the moment our opponents are brimming
over with exhilaration and enthusiasm and are straining

at the leash to get into a federal fight and repeat the
experience of [the provincial election],

My own view is emphatically that if any showing at all
is to be made in this province the eleﬁion should be
delayed until next Spring or Summer,

King, not wishing to allow his mandate to reach the constitutional maximum,
called an election for October 29. 4
if
The results of the federal election were not gratifying for king.
The Liberals lost fifteen seats, reducing their representation in the Commons
to 107 members, while the Conservatives more than doubled their previous

standing, winning in 116 ridings. The Progressives, who declined from 63 to

o




-a total of fourteen seats.

24 seats, hg?d the balance of power. As Ralston had pﬁtdicted, Nova
Scatia went heavily Conservative electing only three
43

iberals put uf

In the Maritimes as a whole. the Liberals
were on the w#onq end of a SeyEﬁteen—seat swing to the Conservatives. The
tenuous situation of his party- in the Atlantic regfon,“}n‘the~wake of the

1925 election, forced MacEEhzie King toirtensify his efforts to recruit

"Ralston to federal politids.

The ‘situation which existed in Ottawa.was a singular one. Fing -

“detested the Conservative 1éader. Arthur Meighen, who had been respcﬂs{ble for
the implementation of the Military Services Act in 1917. In an unprecedentéd'

‘move, King decided to meet parliament without resigring as Prime Minister, in

spite of the Conservative's $UDEriet number of SEétSu King }eiied‘upen the
support of the allegedly nonapartisanuprogrgssiveshwho quiék?ycaﬁandoned~ o i R
him when there was evidence ona scanéa1 in the Government's Custams def R o .i
partment. Withoutadequate support in the Commans, Kinéurequegtéd that Gover=- - i
nor-General Lord Byng ,grant him‘h‘dissalu;iqh. in 0ne~pfrthe most in%améus
adjudications by a GovernorGeneral, Byﬁg~ééqied'Kiﬁgi§ appea] and cal1éd V
upon Meighen to form a government. Meighen~was Faééd wﬁth many ihsurmount-
able 1ﬂgis§ica1 problems and quickly‘1ost@é vote in the House. COﬁSéqueﬁtlyi
an e?eut1cn was called For September 14, 1926. ‘

King ‘was determined not to fail 1n his quest to gbtain Ra1ston as

andidate. As King became more ‘loseTy acqua1nted with Ra1ston he

realized what type of argument wouid be the most Sucnessfui in 0bta1nlng
Ralston's compliance to run. 4. Just as Ra1sten had served in w0r1d War 1
largely out of a sense of duty to Nova Scatia. King appeaTed ‘to a similar
0b11gat10n on behalf of the Colonel to his native province:

I cannot too strongly express the hope that you will -

consent to become a Liberal candidate in the present
Federal election. You know I think how anxious I have
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altl along been to see you %n the Federal Par?iahenti There

is I think a very special call to you at this time to consider

the needs of Nova Scotia and I believe your acceptance

" of the nomination would help the cause, not only in your own
province but throughout the Dominion. Again let me urge -

very strongly that, if at all possible, you comply with the

wishes of our Liberal friends of the Province generally.
King's solicitation met with success. From this time on, King would .
always attempt to obtain Ralston's acquiescence by calling Uﬂcn’his per-
ception of obligation. " "

- One may be inclined to wonder why King was S0 insistent about
prbcu%ing thevcandidacy of an individua1 with Ralston's proven inability
to win g]ections. Indeed, 1926 was no exception F;r the aiready thr“iée=~
défeated_toionel.‘ Ralston ran in the two-member ridﬁnngf Halifak, é
cmnstjtuencx in which the‘1owest>Conservative had beaten the top Liberal

?by atmost Sood'vqtés {nf1925. Ra1§tbn was able tb diﬁiniSh the wide plu-
raiity, however _he still lost by approximately 3000 votes,46 The pro-
vince of ﬁévaVSCOpia was'abbareﬁtiy unimpressed by Ralston‘s association
Qith the federal L%bera]s,’returning twelve Conservatives and only two

) Liberais.4? Naf?ona11y Kin§ had made significant gains and, with the sup-
port of the Liberal-Progressives; ﬁas_abie_;o form a majority government.

. In spite O%uRa1ston's failure at the polls, King was still deter-
mined to have the Colonel cbme fo bttawa.  In drafting his-Cabinet, Kiﬁg
decided to offer the NationaT'Deféncgvp0r§f01i0 to Ralston. Ralston, the
only de%eated_cah&id;te to be SfFered a pbsitioﬁ in the Cabinet, waé
once again reluctant %o acceptqgﬂgiéir Neatby. King's offi;ia1‘5iogrépher

!forrthe peéiod\betwegn 1923 fo 1§39; cqnténdé‘that King "was wise enough
not - to ta1k-ofvhonoﬁ%°or prestige, He embhasized the piigﬁf of the-Liberal
party in Nova Scotia, the«ﬁeed to organize the Départme;t'of National De-
fence. and the contribution Ralston céqu“maké‘to’the ex-servicemen. "

Ralston accepted King's offer, .o g
. ; : ‘. h
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s The Prime Minister decided to secure a seat for R%Ts;zan by

appointing Hatfield, the s*ittiﬁg'Liberal member of Shelbourne-Yarmouth,
to the Senate. Unfortunately the member was of the opinion that he merited
the Cabinet post and was hes1tant to give up his seat ‘The Yarmouth riding
assoc1at‘1 on Suprsr‘ted their member with the proceedings attracting some un-
favourable pubhc1 ty. Ralston, who had never anticipated such p%roblems,
immediately cabiéd King that he could no longer accept the por‘tfolio}g Ral-
ston explained in a longer letter to King that: "I had decided that the only
decent thing Fo;‘ ame to do was to make some statement which would remove from
the mipds of my fri“ends ,7 at least the idea, which even some of them seemed
to have gotten prietty strongly. that I was grasping for preferment and
willing to see my friends give up their hard-earned laurels for me."50 King
was not inclined to accept the insubordination of Hatfield. After a dis-
cussion with King, during which the Prime Minister ‘t(v)ld Hatfield very bluntly
that he ’la-ckéd the ability to be a Cabinet min'ij“ster, the Shelbourne-Yarmouth
member accepted tbe Senate pési ti onﬁsiI His only objection now fgm,oved, Ral-
ston accepted the portfolio and won the ensuing by-election by ;cclamation'

on November 2.2

. ,J" The most significant experience of Ralston's initial tenure as

Minister: of National Defence was the antagonistic relationship which he de- -
veloped with Andrew George . latta MeNaughton. Ralston appointed Major-General

McNaughton as the Chief of the General Staff on January 1, 1929. McNaughton

“did not -enjoy working with Ralston, largely because he was unable to adjust

to the Minister's meticulous attention to detail. The long hours which re-
sulted from Ralston's sometimes frustrating failure to allocate trivial tasks
i ntensi?iéd McNaughton's animosity,SB The difficulties between the two men
reached a climax over a difference of opinion on a matter of policy. McNaugh-

ton believed that the construction of a new Dominion Arsenal was essential. in
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order to make Canada independent in terms of guns and ammunition. Ral-
ston, having already obtained the largest annual budget for the Defence

Department during the 1920's, did not believe that such a policy was.

necessary. McNaughton, who could not accept Ralston's intransigence in the

matter, drafted a letter of resignat'ion.s4

McNaughton decided, however, not
to present the letter. when the 1930 federal elegtion“cdnvenientiy interceded.
Regrettably, the antipathy which existed between Ralston andHMcNaugﬁton
was to be rekindled during World War II. _ |
The 1930 election did not prove to be one of the federal Liberal-
party's finer moménié‘ The onset of .the Great Depression had increased voter
volatility to such an extent that no national or‘prdvincia1 government in
&nadawoqjd be spared defeat at some point during the next decade. Although
R. B. Bennett's Conservatives decisively defeated King's Liberals, Ralston,
éomewhat ironically, managed to hold on to hiﬁShe1bourne—Yarmouth éeat.
Relegated to the ranks of thé'oppositibn, Ralston's interest in

politics waned. Following his apointment to the Cabinet in 1926, Ralston had

/' resigned from his law firm partnership with Charlie Burchell in Halifax.

e VO

-

Now on the opposition benches, Ralston was free to resume practicing law.
With his public ppcfi1e‘h¢asurab1y increased by his four years as Minister,

Ralton represented a valuable addition to any law office. “Consequent1y,uhé

‘was recruited by a major partnership in Montreal, which with the new ac- -

quisition, became Mitchell, Ralston, Kearney and Duquet.ss‘ )
In arranging his shadow cabinet, Mackenzie King decided that. Ral-

ston would make the most effective financial critic. Ralston, however, was

“hesitant to assume any burden that would detract from his new law practice.
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In a letter to King he expressed his feelings:

as you know I want to do my share, but I have heavy
private responsibilities and I want to do my very ;
best to be fair to both public and private activities....

As you can well understand I want to be a little
more free to give some attention to private affairs,
particularly in-view of the new start which I am making,
and the necessity for some attention to matters which
have to do with 'bread and butter', that dis why I do
not want to bigeoff much in connection with sessional
activities, 96 |

King acknowledged Ra]s;on's desire to devote more energy towards his pre-
ferred profession, offering to divide the responsibi1i£ies of the critic
pértf01i0;57‘ Ralston consented to the proposed arrangement, which in-
volved continuous comﬁuting between Montreal and Ottawa.

After five years of serving in the dual capacity as lawyer and

front-bench critic, Ralston decided to abandon his political activities and

concentrate on his law practice. Never aple to allocate tasks to subor--
dina£95 or to overlook minor details, Rélston was not comfortable with
having too little time to perform h%s respcnsibi]ities. No one could accuse
Ralston of opportunism. His po1itica{ future was‘never more promising,
with a Liberal JalbOry a1mosf‘a cértginty in the 1935 election and the Finance
portfolio virtually guaranteed. Although King attempted to dissuade him
from retiring, Ralston remained resolute in his intentions. Ralston ex-
plained his position in a Tetter to H.R.L.Bi11, the President of the Shel-
bourné-varmouth Liberal Associa%ion:

"My situation is just this:1 that 1 c¢ould not keep

on with the attempt to discharge important private

responsibilities and at the same time meet the exdacting-
demands of active political life without disregarding
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obligations which [ have no right to ignore; and a
deciding :factor has been the severe loss which my asso-
ciates and I have recently sustained in the death

of our senior partner, the late Honourable W. 6. Mitchell,
K.C., which has suddenly thrust new respggsibilities on
me as the Surv1v1ng head of the Firm: -

With the death of Mitchell, Qhe partnership became Ralston,fkearney and
Duquet. B

Ralston's political experience prior to 1935 had not been 4 suécess
from the perspective of winning elections. In a letter to King in which
he confirmed his retivement, Ralston reFTectéd‘upan his political career:

My only comfort is that I think all my friends will
recognize that I have not shirked even-when it meant some
sacrifice and that on a number of occasions 1 yielded when
it was insisted my candidature was absolutely necessary

in the party interests and carried the party banner in
hopeless fights. The fact that 1 thus got the veputation of
being the most defeated man in Nova Scotia did not worry

me in the stightest so long as the-cause had been served.
Now the position is different. I am turning my back on

the almost certain prospect of active and interesting par-
ticipation in public affairs. If there is a sure seat in
the Maritime Provinces it is Shelbourne-Yarmouth-Clare

and if there ever was a time when the success of the Liberal
party was assured it is at the coming election. [ have
given my poor best while I have been in public life and have
neglected aimost too lang obligagaons which ought to have .
been treated more seriously. N - .

Indeed 1935 should have marked a watershed in Ralston's 1ife: Now fifty~-
four years of age, Ra]ston>genuiﬁely desired to devote the remainder of
his life to his family and to his practice. V

Mackenzie King, who had never desisted since 1919 attempting to opfain
Ralston's service in the federal Liberal party, was not inclined to abandon
his repeated soiicitation§ to the Colonel. Even inAaéknbwiedging Ralston’'s-
retivement from e]ectéd office, King could not refrain from implying that

future service micht be required.
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I should fail to express what I feel is most owing to you
at this moment if I did not say you may well view with pride
- _your readiness, regardiess of sacrifice. throughout the .
whole of your years to serve the cause of freedom wherever
that service seemed to bé most needed. -Your life's purpose
will continue to flow in that channel. In that though I
find, not only continued service to our party, wherever
. your lot.may be cast but. under the Providence of God, a
service that. to its_close, w111 be ever deepening and ever
widening as well. 69

Kihg's observations, while prophetic.in one sense, aré‘alsg ext}emely rani -
puiative in nature. The Feader of the Opposition was wél?vaﬁare of the
type of rhetoric which Ra1stoﬁ-c0u1d not . resist and he was certainly not
ashamed to eéxploit it. " ’

An incidEnt,invIQBé.is indicative 6f the extent of Ralston's we-
soluteness in withdrawing from politics. Having won the 1935 election by
a cmw%rtab[emajoriﬁy, ﬁackenzie Kfng‘was,back in the Prime Minister's
office. King, in wishing'some continued association with Ralston. reSo]véd
to offer the Colonel an anpbintmeht to the§eqate. Perhaps the ultimate
‘plum' in the complex system of Canadién political patronage;‘the.Senatorship
would allow Ralston %o cpnfinue io a1iocatg as much time as_he deemed
necessary to his Montreal law practiée fwhi1e—necessitating only a few token
appéaranées in Qttawa. Ra]ston however couid not accept a position which
involved remuneration without commitment. In a letter which is refreshing
in its integrity. Ralston 0ut1inesr§0 King his reasons for refusing the |

appointment:

Since you telephoned me I have gone all over that matter of
the Senatorship with the result -that I feel I must...decline
the honour. Honestly I should not have given the matter a

- second thought, in.view of my situation, if it hadn't been
that you were suggesting'it and for the forcible reason you
gave. [ realize that it isn't every one who has it put to him
that his duty is to accept a Senatorship and to mwost people it
would seem to be a not<too-[demanding} path of duty. But
the situation is that I made my decision a year ago after much
travail. [ made it deliberately so as to lighten the load and
be able to devote myself to the discharge of private obliga-

R f‘"’-\t
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tions which I had neglected for over 25 years of fairly
constant political activity. The feature which became
threatening was the attempt to keep the pot boiling in
the office and kegp on the go, back and forth. to Ottawa.
It meant pretty severe phys1ca1 strain coupled with the
fact that peoplé who are paying me to look after their work
- had to put up with a Tick and a promise and have the -
actual work done by a junmiar while I hadn't the excuse that
[-had to be away on professional business but that I had
- to attend to my public duties in Ottawa, ‘

I know you believe that the situation would be immensely
different in the Senate and that there is no obligation to

N be there very often, but you always told your ministers that

‘they must be keepers of their own consciences and [ am quite
sure that if [ were a member of the Senate I could not
treat it as a sinecure but would want to pull my weight...

There is one other feature namely that [ am most anxious
that my boy should get a start. He was only admitted [to the
Bar] lJast July and the next twe™or three years are his ]
testing time and with the profession crowded as it is he
needs all the help [ can give him. He wants to get married
and I want him to but I couldn't expect him to get paid-
enough to warrant that step if I diverted my energies so as_ )
to slacken the flow of work for him and the others to do. °1 . y

It would qppea? that King could no longer hope to lure Ralston back into-

his orbit of political activity.
: .
o
For Ralston. the years between 1935 and 1939 were extremely pros- .

perous. Ralston, Kearney and Duquet had become one of the most lucrative

- - . - Lo 62

corporation practices in Canada. In addition to being one of the country's

most prominent lawyers, Ralston was the President of the Equitable Life

Insurance Company of Canada and was on the Board of Directors of nine major

corparations.63 One of the greatest advantages for Ralston was the oppor-

- tunity which he had to spend more time with Nettie and Stuart. In certain

respects the family was in a position of stabi1iky that is reminiscent of
their situation prior to World War I, when Nettie Ralston had felt thg} they

& - g
were ‘too happy’.

As was the unfortunate fate of many men of his generation, Ralston's
o7 # .
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1ife was once again seriously disrupted by a global war. PFecipitatéd
upon this occasion by Adolf Hitler's megalomania, virtually every

country in the world was eventually involved in the conf1ict.vwhen(the
prospect of Canadian participation in the war begén to materialize in
August, 1959, King oncé‘agajn reques£ed that Ralston re-enter the Cabinet,
this time as'Mjnister of Finanée. Although Ralston refused, he“did

pramise-that if war broke out, he would serve in- the crisis.®? Con-

' sequently on September 5 when it was evident that war with Germany could

no Tonger be averted, Ralston offered his compliance with the Prime
Minister's wishes. King gave Ralston a choice between the National De-
fence and the Finance portf01i05.65 The two vacancies in Cabinet existed

for diﬁferenp reasons. Charles Dunning had been forced to resign as

" Minister of Finance due to i11 health. The Minister of National Defence.

an Maékeﬁzie, was adequa%e in the position in peacetime, but King thought
that he lackéd the administrative skil} that would be necessary during

66 Perhaps surprisingly, ﬁalsi n selected the Finance portfolio
and was swérn‘into-thé Cabinet on SeptepBer 6. The wish to withdraw From

public life which Ralston had so firmly developed over the preceding five

_.years had beén éupereded by his more acuiely nurtured sense of duty.

The return of Ralston to the Cabinet was abp]auded by even the

harshest.critics of the Liberal government. George McCillagh's

- Globe and Mail had been berating the King Administration for its lack of

‘ 4preparedness‘for war, and percei&ed the appdﬁntmedt of Ralston as a

move in_the proper‘direction: "King is to be commended for the prompt

action he has taken to strengthenhis Cabinet by the inclusion of Colonel

o James Layton Ralston, a soldier with a brilliant record in the Gredt War
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and a dynamic personality who will inspire confidence in the nation's

government in this hour of'peri1.“67 Mackenzie King, already possessing

. strong Cabinet representation from Quebec, was well aware that Ralston
‘ would improve the perception of his government in English-Canada. It

should ﬁct be assumed, however, that Ralston was beholden to popular

opinion in English-Canada. Unlike most politicians, Ralston desired
neither re-election nor career advancement in thé government. It was
Ralston's sole purpose in entering the Cabinet td fulfill his responsi- .

bilities and to return to his law practice after the hostilities in

_Europe had ceased. Consequently, Ralston was accountable primarily to his

conscience during his tenure in the King War Cabinet.
Under the circumstances it is difficult to perceive Ralston

acquiescing to policies which he believed not to be in the national in-

terest. If Ralston would not be able to function as Minister in accordance
with h%§ own con?ictfons; there would be little reason for him to remain

in the Cabinet. Therefore,the reputationthat Ralston would develop over .
the next five year;lfor being stubborn and unyielding is quite understan-
hab]e. While earlier experiences had taught him to hate“war, Ralston had -
also learned to appreciate tﬁé role of the soldier. Having lost his bro-
ther and cbdnt}ess fr%end§~iﬁ World War I, Ralston was all too aware of

the cosﬁ of armed conf]ici. However, if war was deemed necessary, it .

was equally essentiﬁllthat the government be fjrm in its commitment to the
armed forces. From this principle Ralston would not knowingly deviate.
Ultimately, it was to be as a result of this temet that Ralston could no

longer serve under Mackenzie King.
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Chapter [1
Limited Liability

" When Ralston was sworn in as Ministerﬁaf Finance, he joined a
goverpnient that was uncertain about what form Canadian partifipafiun in
the war should take. Without a seat in the House of Commons, Ralston
could only vbserve the emergency session of Parliament which passed the
formal declavation of war againsﬁ Germany. Nu une who was Famd 1iar with
the debate at the emergency session could have Ffailed to be impressed
with Ernest Lapointe, the Minister of Justice and king's Frenche<tanadian
lieutenant in the House, who helped to ensure that the majority of mem-
bers from Juebec supported the declaration of war. With the esvweption
@f é few French-Uanadian nationalists and Enyglish-Canadian Conservarives
there was a general consensus that war was necessary and that consoription
of manpower Sﬁouid not be introduced. Aside from this tenuaus agreenent
there were broadly conflicting interpretations of the role which Canada
should assume in the conflict against Germany.

The task of defining Canada's war effort was largely the respon-
sibility of the War Committee of Cabinet., Referrved to as the Emergensy
Council during the first four months of tﬁ& war, the War Commirtee consisred
of the most influential Cabinet Ministers and wes chaired by Mackenzie bingd,

Virtually every wajor government policy which was concerned with the prosecu-

tion of the wﬁr originated within the War Committee. By issuing a signiticant
number of orders-in-council, the War Committee frequently oircumvented Par- ~
Tiament. Undesmocratic though it may appear, such a g stem of executive authu-
rity was necessitated by the meed to maintain secrecy and to obtain brompt

action. . ‘
~36-
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The membership of the War Committee was not firmly established
until the middle of 1940, In addition to Ralston, Lapointg, and king.
Norman Roders was one of the initial wembers. Upon declining the Nafional
Defence portfolio. Ralston had recommended to King that he appo**i.ntRogérs,i

King, who possessed immense respect for Rogers' abilities, agreed to uf-

Ter the position to the former political science professor from Queen's,

Pogers subsequentiy accepted the portfoli 0.‘ Lharies “Chubby" Power was an;
ather of the Committee's Founding wembers. A bicultural Lrish Canadian

from fluebec, Power was the Postmaster-General for the first months of the
war, later movj;ng to the position of Minister of National Defence for Air.
The west was ;epresented on the Committee by T.A.Crerar, the former leader
of the Progressives. whom King had persuaded to accept a Cabinet position
with the Liberals in 1929;2 Throughout the war, Urerar served in the :-apa-
city of Minister of Mines and Resources. Although not originally a mewber,
Ularence Decatur (C.D.) Howe became one of the Committee's dominant personali-
ties. As the Minister of Munitions and Supply, Howeﬁ:”demonstrated a singular
aptitude for administration, being tenacious in achiqeving “t‘he vresulfs which
he desired. Given the diverse backgrounds and the strong-willed natures of
its members, it is not surprising that War Committee meetings were freguently
characterized by turmoil and threatened resignations.

Almost betore the War Committee could begin consideration of Canada's
participation in the war, a difficult situation d@VéMped in Quebec., Maurice
Duplessis ., the province's Union Nationale Prem’iefp/ called an election on
September 5. haping to be re-elected on a pfaifurm of refusing to cooperate

with the national war eéffort.’ Because of the weak organization of the pro-
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vincial wing of the Liberal party and the direct attack that Duplessis had
made upon the federal @binet ministers from Quebec, Lapointe and Péwer
decided to become directly involved in the campaign.4  Joined by P.J.
Arthur Cardin, the Minister of Public Works, Power and Lapointe publicly
threatened to resign 'from office if Duplessis was not; defeated. Duplessis
attempted to make the danger of conscription the focal point of the campaign,
but Lapointe, Power and Cardin diffused the effect of this tactic by pled- |
ging their determined opmpsiion to compuisory military serviceas Given
this assurance the Quebec e“’lgctorate soundly defeated Dupiessis on October
25, e?ecting‘ a Liberal government led by Adelard Godbout. While the election
results reflected the confidence that the moderate Frenct;a(:anadians had in
the federal Liberal government, the results also served as an indication of
the limitations of Quebec's support concerning manpower policies.

The turbulent nature of the national political environment did not fail
to make an impression upon Ralston. The new Minister of Finance perceived
his role as being responsible for limiting Canada's commitments during the
first stages of the war tvo those which were both necessary and affordable.
Wtih the 'phoney war' in progress in Europe, Ralston was not about to jeo-
pardize Canada'g financial position until there was a clearer indication of
what the country's most valuable contribution would be. Consequently,
Ralston was very selective in consenting to requests from the United kingdom
for various forms of assistance.

The first major policy which the War Committee m‘considémzd was initiated
by a cable from Neville Chamberlain, the Prime Minister of the United Kingdom,
which asked %or the support of the Canadian government in developing an exten-

sive pilot training scheme for the Royal Air Force in Canada. At a meeting




of the War Committee on September 28, Mackenzie King outlined the contents

of Chamberlain's cable, remarking that Canada;s involvement in the plan

would justify sending fewer, if any, men pverseas.b Ralston agreed that a
"gréatiy increased emphasgéﬁﬁﬁon the aipr arm...might result in considerable
modifications of the Canadian war programme in otheg»respects.“? The members
of the Committee decided that it would be desirable to begin negotiations
with the United Kingdom concerning the financing of the scheme.

Prior to beginning more serious deliberations in connection with

the air training programme. Ralston had to attend to two other matters of
significance. The first was to assist in appointing the commanding »ffi-
cer of the First Canadian Division which had been mﬂbiiized early in éeptem~
bgr to serve as an expeditionary force to the United Kingdom. On October &
{@aiston, Norman Rogers {now the Minister of National Defence] and king inter
“viewed Andy ﬁcNaughton for the position. Ralston's former Chief of the
General Staff made a tremendous impression upon King. and was subsequently
offered the position, which he 36cepted58 Unfortunately, the difficult re-

lationship which Ralston and McNaughton had experienced during the compara-

tively peaceful years of 1929-1930, would only deteriorate under the stress of

war.
The second item which required Ralston's attention was his need to
obtain_ a seat in the House of Commons. He was seriously considering running
Y
in a byieiection in a riding in the western end of Montreal when Providence
intervened. On October 28, the safe Liberal constituency of Prince in Prince
Edward 1sland became vacant when the sitting wmember died. Ralston consented
to King's request that he stand for the nomination in Prince, where acclama-
tion was almost certain.? King, who had been the member for Prince from 1919
to 1921, was delighted that Ralston was going to hold the same seat. Indeed,
King was so impressed with Ralston at this point that he recorded in his

diary that he would be pleased to have -
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the next Prime Minister representing the constituency that
had opened the way for the present Prime Minister to take
office and would feel it wost appropriate for him to be
there. Iff were designating tomorrow the man for Prime
Minister, I would select Ralston without a moment's hesSi-
tation. VYears ago. I felt the same way about him. He is
the most unselfish man, [ think. that I have met, a public
- spirit equal to Norman Rogers.
Although King's prophetic powers failed him when speculating about his
successor, he was correct in assuming that Ralston would have no trouble
winning in Prince, where he was acclaimed on January C, 1940511
It was shortly after Ralston had learned of the opening in Prince
that negotiations began concerning the air training scheme. An Air Missivn
from the United Kingdom arrived in Ottawa in late October to weet with
the Canadian government. The British delegation was chaired by Lord River-
dale, a leading British industrial magnate. The mission also included
Br Chief-Marshal Sir Robert Brooke-Popham .and the Under=Secretary for Air,
Captain Harold Balfour. Although the events which led to the formal ayree-
| ] ‘
meLt of the British Commonwealth Air Training Programme have been chronicled
in detail elsewhere, it is important to understand Ralston's role in the
process.  Never the knee-jerk imperialist that some have mistaken hd% for,
Ralston stubbornly refused to compromise Canada's financial stability.
The first formal meeting between the United Kingdom Air Mission and
the War Committee was held on October 31. Before the representatives of
the British government arvived in King's office Ralston warned his coliea-
gues that Canada's contribution to the plan could not be determined until
it was known what assistance Great Britain would require in offier areas.
especially concerning credits for munitions and supp1ies_1“' When the Bri-

tish Mission entered the meeting, Riverdale made some int;oductory conmen ts




about the %hature of the proposed scheme, commenting that the plan would
cost approximately 888 million dollars by March 31, 1943;13 Riverdale
claimed that the British government was prepared to offer 140 million dol-
lars to initiate the programme, with the governments of Australia and New
Zealand assuming one-half of the remaining cost. Canada, therefore, would
be responsfb?e for 374 million dollars, Riverdale's suggested allocation of
financial liability took Ralston by surprise. The Minister of Finance
told the meeting that he wés unaware of any previous discussions concerning
the proportional sharing of cost, and asked Riverdale whether any of the
co-operating governments had agreed {o the figures which he had mentioned.

- After Riverdale admitted that he was simply 6ffering a4 formula for considera-

tion, King interjected that because the entire plan had originated ?'th
Chamberlain, it would be unfair to force the Canadian government inéa a deci-
sion, The Prime Minister impressed upon Riverdale that Canada would not ex-
ceed its resources in determining its war effort. Ralston then expressed his
indignation over Riverdale's "bland assessment” of Canada's contribution to
the scheme, and told the air wission that it would bé impossible to come
"within shootiné distance” of the figures which had been suggesteda14 The
Fa;t that the BCATP was not a Canadian iﬁ’!hative was of primary importance
. to Ralston, who emphasized that "before the Canadian Government could commit
‘_jtse1fuas to what share of responsibility it might take FOF‘EEE;%;gining
Scheme, it would have to know the total financial reguirements and what further
financial contributiﬁns in this and other fields we would be called upon to
makeé"15 The only decision which the meeting produced was an agreement
that the Air Mission should meet with Ralston, Howe and Rogers to elaborate

upon the funding of the plan.

.
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At the next meeting, held on November 3, Ralston outlined the finan-
¢ial position of the Canadian government to the British Air Mission. vanada
had already allocated 36.3 per cent (1,490 million dolfars}) of its national

income (3,575 million dollars) to various government expenditures., The

government intended to increase its defence spending in 1940-41 to 352 wiilion, —

almost doubling the department’s 1939-40 budget of 190 millicn.16 Because

this would now involve 42 pev cent of the naéiona] income, the Minister of
Finance informed the British delegation that it would be impossible for
iLanada to make the sizeable financial contribution which had been requested.
Consequently, the next few days were spent attempting to reduce the Cost
of the air training scheme. )

By November 14, an agreement had been tenatively reached which
would Timit Canada’s share of financial responsibility to $313 m1‘1“l1“@nu?7 The
War Committee placed two conditions upon its acceptance of the proposal. Pal-
stone stipulated that the agreement was conditional upon a satisfactory out-
come of the negotiatioﬂg between Graham Towers, the Governor of the Bank of
Canada, and the govermment purchasing authorities in the United K1‘ngdf:m.}8
[f Canada could not adequately suppliement its national income through pro-
ducing mynitions for the British, Ralston reasoned, it would be impossible
for the government to finance the BCATP. The second provision was put for-
ward by Norman Rogers, who insisted that the U.K. government agree “that
fanadian participation in the Air Training Scheme, as contemplated. should
take prigority, or preference, over all gther Canadian commitments not al-

ready entered into,"ig

Although Riverdale offered his suppori to the amended
plan, the Britisﬁ government was not prepared to consent too quickly to the
conditions that were required by Rogers and Ralston.

Over the following two weeks, more complications arose. The British

—— - - E’ - ) !ffi _—
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government was extremely reluctant to ensure that the air training pro-
gramme would be given the priority which Rogers had requested. During the
delay caused by the U.K's hesitation, the Australian representatives, who

had come to Ottawa along with a delegation from New Zealand, decided that

<0 Fortunately, a

they wished to reduce their participation in the plan,
new formula for funding the plan was agreed upon just prior to the date
that the Australian and New Zealand Missions were to leaw Ottawa. Sir Ger-
ald Campbell, the British High Commissioner to Canada, requested that the
governments sign the agreement before the Australians’ departure.'21

The Canadian_government, however, was §fi11 not satisfied with the
Tack of commitmedf that the British had given to the priority of the pro-
gramme. At a meeting of the War Committee on November 27, it was decided that
no formal consent would be given to the plan until the British government was
Gﬁess equivocal about the priority to be given to the scheme. Not surprisingly,
Norman Rogers stressed the importance of avoiding any public mention of the
condition which the Committee was attempting to extract from the dwK. govern-

ment. Much to their disappointment the British, Australian and New Zealand

delegations were told that the Canadiaﬁ government could go no further

than issuing a press release which revealed that "discussions had been com-

pleted, a basis of agreement had been arrived at and it was now being re-

ferred © the respective governments for decision."22
The British government finally issued the desired statement concerning

the priority of the BCATP on December 7;23

A new difficulty, however, im-
= mediately arose which once again delayed the signing of the final agreement.
The Canadian government had been under the impression that distinct Royal

Canadian Air Force squadrons would be forwed with the ground crews provided

by the British. At a meeting on December 14, Lord Riverdale infurmed the War.
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Committee that if RCAF squadrons wanted to be recognized as such. then they

24 Raiston,

would have to be serviced by Canadian ground crews in the field.
King and the remaining members of the ¢ ommi ttee were united in their opposi-
tion to Riverdale's proposal, claiming that it was inconsistent with exist-
ing agreements between the two governments. The meeting adjourned with
Riverdale consenting to cable his government for further instructions.
Negotiations became very intense during the following two days.
Mackenzie King wanted to announce that an agreement had been reached on Decem-

ber 17 because it coincided with his birthday and the scheduled arrival of

the First Division of the Canadian Army in the United Kingdom. Success was

almost achieved during a meeting in the Prime Minister's office on December 15,

Riverdale and Brooke-Popham suggested a new method of allocating Canadian
air squadrons which Rogers, Ralston and King found to be more acceptable.
Ralston, however, was rather hesitant to accept any compromise in connection .

with the command of Canadian squadrons. gKing noted in his diary that:
Ralston kept coming back to the point of command and the
care of our men. That when enlisting Targe numbers of
pilots in Canada. the first thing they would ask would
be whether they would be under a Canadian commander. Whether
they could look to being in Canadian squadrons rather than in
squadrons commanded by British officers. Ralston pointed
out quite clearly that. unless there was very clear under-
standing on these matters on the say Canada should have,
there would be a fear among our men that they would be sent
into such places as Passchandaele ip_the last war. and their
1ives unnecessarily sacrificed. «3

Ralston's observations notwithstanding, the British government disapproved
of Riverda¥'s proposal, necessitating further discussion.

With-pressure mounting daily to reach a solution, a breakthrough
occurred on:Becember 16; Unable to contact Riverdale, Ralsfon met with
Gefa]d Campbel1” and Brooke<Popham. During the meeting, a rather ambiguous

statement was prepared, which read:

e
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On the understanding that the numbers to be incorporated

or organized at any time will be the subject of discussion
between the two governments, the United Kingdom Government
accepts in principle as being consonant with the intention
of Paragraph 15 of the Memorandum of Agreement, that the
United Kingdom Government, on the request of the Canadian
Government would arrange that the Canadian pupils when
pagsing ogut from the Training Scheme, would be incorporated
in or organized as units and formations of the Royal Cana-
dian Air Force in the field. The detailed methods by which
this can be done would be arranged by an Inter=Gq§ernmentai
Committee for this purpose under Paragraph 15. ~

Riverdale and King were not able to meet to consider the new proposal until
late that wight. by which time Ralston had departed for Montreal. Although
the statement accomplished littie more than deferring administration of the
problem to an inter-governmental committee, king and Riverdale agreed that
it formed the basis of a solution to the impasse. Conseguently the agreement
was Formally signed and an official announcement was made the following day.

The BCATP negotations repfesented the first major test of Ralston's
orientation towards policy since his return -to the Cabinet. I[f anything is
demonstrated by Ralstgn's behaviour during the aftempt to reach an agreement,
it is that Ralston was unwii]iﬁé to subordinate Canadian autonomy in an effort
to appease imperial interests.

Within the Cabinet, Ralston repeatedly sought to restrain expenditures.
Later in the war, Ralston would almost disregard financial conside;ations in
his effort to{bui]d an adequate army. The reason for Ralston's imitial <on-
servative orientation toward government expenditure is probably derived from
the uncertain circumstances which characterized the late 1939 to early 1940
period. Ralston's two most seﬁior advisors, Graham Towers and W. Cliftord
Clark, the deputy Minister of Financéi,were concerned that allocating too
large a proportion of the national income for war purposes would create 3 run

7 In addition, 1f was not yet known to what extent the Canadian

¥
on the banks.®
economy would expand as a result of munitions production. nor was there any
lucrative trade agreement with the United States. With the ‘phonev war'

|
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stiil}in pfogﬁess in Europe, there was no immediate external threat. Con-
sequently while his position would eventually be transformed by changes

in these conditions, Ralston adhered to a policy of financial restraint

during the first phase of the war.

Ralston outlined his philosophy of expenditure to his Cabinet col-
leagues in late November. [n a Tetter which requested the estimates of

the various departments for the 1940-41 fiscal year, Ralston stressed the

importance of curtailing peace-time Sbending.“g‘ Ralston hoped that by Timi-

ting ordinary departmental budgets. more money would be available for the
war effort. The Minister of Finance warned his fellow ministers that "as wou
are aware, the commitments we have already made for war purpéseﬁ when added
to the peace-time expenditures of Canadian governments represent so large a
proportion of the national income that unless we can appreciably reduce uwur
ordinary expenditures we should be faced with the possibility of rationing of
imports and of con5qmption at a not distant date."zg
The cautious attitude of the Finance Department;sas not meeting with
universal support. Mitch Hepbuzn, the recalcitrant Libéra1 Premier of Ontario,
was relentless in his criticism of the national war effort, claiming that
"the dollar is in the driving seat at Ottawa'. 30 Hepburn's sentiments

were echoed by the federal Conservatives and some of the large English news-

papers such as the Globe and Mail. Even within the government, some Jdis-

satisfaction became apparent when Wallace Campbell threatened to resign as
Chaivman of the War Supply Board. Campbell was upset because he alleged

that Ctifford Clark was not allowing the War Supply Board tu place orders
3 At a special meeting

for requirements beyond the current fiscal year.
of the War Ciowmittee on December 8, C*D.Howe, who now had ministerial res-
ponsibility for the Board, stated that he was not aware of any difficulties

in obtaining such 0rders.32 As well, Norman Rogers indicated that the De-
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partment of National Defence had not experienced any problems in receiving
equipment and supplies. Although King was vaious1ysconcerneﬁ by the situa-
tion, he was reassured by all of the ministers whicﬁ‘were present that
Campbell's compfaints were unjustified. Ralston C0$c1u46d the meeting by re-
{n his duty as Minister of

Finance it he failed to keep the matter of cost constantﬁy in mind;"j3

minding his colleagues that "he would be derelict i
i As criticism about the government's war effort fr&m various sources

. Lo o . k N
intensified, Mackenzie King sought some ammunition for a counterattack. The

|
Prime Minister asked all of his Cabinet Ministers tk outline the war activi-
|

ties of their respective departments. Ralston’s re?ponge, while not ver:
suitable for King's purpose, clearly reflected the bhi10§09hy of the Finance
bepartment :

1) Guarding, conserving and strengthening the nation's financial
and economic vesources against dissipation for expenditures
which can be reduced, deferred or eliminated in wartime;

2} Formulating policies regarding the restriction or contraction
of peacetime expenditures in order to make rodm for war expenditures:

3] Examining every sort of proposal for out-of-the-ordinary ex-
penditures with a view to appraising their merit in the 1ight of
war coqditions; )

4} Norkin@‘out measures for raising money by way of taxation and
by loans and organizing therfor.[sic] \ 34

Ralston's desire to maintain a tight ceiling on non-essential spending was

soon to be the cause of friction within the Cabinet.

Betore any serigus differences of opinion could qarise within the
War Committee, a general election interrupted the ncrmaTEFunctioning‘Bf the
government. On January 18, the Hepburn government at Queen’s Park had passed
a resolution which condemned the national war effort435 Fartia1ly inspired by
| o
dissolution of Parliament with the War Committee on Jan?ury 22. The only -

minister who disagreed with this course of action was Ré1stoni“who maintained

‘that the government was correct in the policies which it had adopted. and
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should simply present its case on the floor of the House.36 Never noted for

his political acumen, Ralston quickly acceded to the will of the majority.
Consequently, on January 25, when Parliament met for the first time since
the emergency session of September 1939, the Prime Minister dissolved the

House. -
— T V ,

The necessity of an election was questioned by many, especially by

Dr. Robert Manion, the Leader of the Conservative party. Manion denounced

the government for being oppriunistic aod afraid to face Parliament.

After his initial reticence Ralston saw the need for an election. In a

letter to his brother Mack, Ralston denied Manion's allegations of political

cowardice, claiming that “the real situation was that this ParTiament was

nearing its end, and it would have greatly retarded our war effort if we

had had to sit day after day in the House battling away on the quesfion as

to whether somebody had a greatcoat or as to the relative merits of Dependants'

Allowances in this war as compared with the Tast, and then have to go out in

an eiectfon campaign and do it all over again;"37

Election campaigns were never very pleasurable experiences for Ralston,
and the 1940 contest was no exception. Indeed. Ralston wrote to Mack that:
"it was the worst campaign from the point of view of personal attack and abuse,

I .
[ think that we have ever had, and [ am certain, as I said on the platform

more than once, that no Fedg;gi\leaggr in any election since Confederation
has been so loose iﬁ’speech and has indulfed in such lurid language and such
bitter criticism as EHanion]."38 Although Ralston's perception of the campaign
may have been tainted by his partisanship. he was extreme1y'§§nsitive about

the personal abuse that his colleagues were being su fjected to 6n the hustings.
In his major contribution to the Liberal guest for re-election, Ralston de-
livered a national radio address which dealt entirely withd&fending the re-

putations of King, Laﬁqégte and Rogersssg
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2 » . Palston’s distaste for the campaian notwithstanding, the Liberals

won o lands lide victory, After the polling booths had ciosed on March Db,

it was vevealed that the guvernment had won 181 sut of a possibie 039 ridings,
L& was the Targest wajurity of seats, awarded tu a party to that date. with

the tonservatives retaining only J0 constituencies. The Liberals were oven
a6

wove successtul in Juebec, where they swept 6d.of the province’s 65 seats.
‘Perhapé; the cleares e indication of tg\g eotent of the one=sided Libwral
Eejumph is the fact that Ralston mdnaged ta b&?‘ —elected in Prince. Hale

ston. in no way disappointed that Manion had Been deveated in his  own

riding, wrote to Mack to explain the putcome of the election:

Here is the secret of the result, [t is told in a breier
sentence or two in a letter which [ had from Nettie
this morning.  She says 'Miss Moseley was talking b
me abuut voting. She said that she had always been
, 2 conservative but she voted Liberal this time because
. she felt that the Liberals had started with this war and
B perhaps were better fitted to carry it on vather than new
. blood. Aad also she didn't like the way Dv. Magion
' carried on his campaign: she thought he had. taben his
< “time to s1ing mud and she voted against hiwm.*

Nettie says this may have been the reason For many
. a wote, and [ think she i¥ right.

81 chough Palston's analysis way be overly simplistic, therve 13 s ques tion

that the Liberals were Jiven a decisive mandate to *:v}li‘ti;ijije e prosecute
the war effort. §
' ~
Following the election, Falston's financial conservatism produced Sume
Ccontroversy wi *ti‘;‘in the War Comittee over two issues. The Tirst problem
v concerned negotiations with the United States over the develupumen £ owf ﬂw
St. Lawrence Waterway. Ralston's inttial opposition to cheL project had been
expressed at a Cabinet meeting on January 13. At the time. Ralston argued
chat“it was unwise o divé;‘tfupds@ which were required for war-related pur-
o

- 5 .- oo . o . . o !
poses, to the St. Lawrence duewaB@;:»men'(:‘4 king, howeveyr, stressed the fn-

portance of appeasing the nedtral Americans, who were extremely enthusiastic
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about the proposal. With the support of the rest of the Cabinet. a new
draft treaty was drawn up with the Awericans, which the War Committee conéi@
dered on April 4. Ralston once again objected, claiming that it would
cost the government sixty million doliars by 19503J3 The Minister of Fin-

4

ance added that such an expenditure might adversely affect Dominion creditq4
—J

In spite of the financial liability. King re-emphasized the priority of
maintaining positive relations with the United States.
agreed with King, and decided to pruceed with the new treaty.
‘ Prioe to

The second controversial issue was of greater significance.

<alling the election, the Cabinet had decided to announce that a second in-
Fal-

fantry division would be mobilized and‘eventually dispatched overseas
ston had wmildly quéstiﬁned the decision, worrying that it would lead to pres-
sure for a third and fourth division.% on February 12, the War Committee

received a réﬁuest from Major-General McNaughton that the two divisiéns
should combine te form a Canadian Corpsgds The Committee agreed to defer
until after the election.

any commitment to such a proposal
Norman

The matter was not given further consideration until April C.
Rogers was about to leave Ottawa for London, and hoped that a decision could
¢ be made prior to his departure. Ralston opposed the formation of a Corps
~on financial grounds, arguing that it would be too expensive to suppart the _
additional headquarters and ancillary unitS»QJ Rogers was equally adawmant that '
the proposal should be accepted. Kking intervened, contending that:
the Canadian public would wish to héve a Corps, that
the pride of the nation would demand that: also, that
we owed it to McNaughton and the men who were prepared
to give their lives, to let them have, in the way of
formation, what they most desired. The people would
expect us to be prepared to incur additignai expense, if
need be, for this national expression. 0
Despite king's support for Roger’s position, the discussion was resumed on
the following day. Ralston believed that it would make more sense to use
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the money to support the air and naval services. Although king did not

disagree with Ralston's assertion. the Prime Minister still maintained

that it was advisabie to form a clearly defined expeditionary 1r‘u:)r~:e3f3'9 -
The issue was finally resolved at a meeting of the War Committee

on April 4. Rogers and Ralston had worked together to draft a proposal

for Tinancing the ancillary units. The British'gavernment who also desired

the formation of a Canadian Corps, would provide for ail of the anciklauf

troops' dnitial equipment. The Canadian government would then assume the

responsibility of maintaining the units For the duration of the war.gﬂ The

plan was deemed acceptab}e by the other members of the comm tiee who decided

to proceed with the egtab?ishment of a Canadian Corps in England.

JV The controversy over the St. Lawrence Waterway and ;ﬁé'funnaaion ot
a Canadian Corps marked the fimal two occasions upon which Ralstun would
place top priority upon financial considerations. The German offensive had
begqun on April 9 with the conguest of Denmark and the invasion of Norway.

By May 10, the blitzkrieg had begun and Winston Churchill had replaced Neville
Chamberlain as Prime Minister in the United Kingdom. As Ralston's aware-
ness of the Héteriorating situation in Euwope increased, he became less cone
cerned with limiting financial risks. By June 5 he was writing to Graham
Towers that "these days we have to, and should, take chances‘”"s1

The War Committee moved quickly to accelerate its war effurt on May 14,
The dispatch of the Cnd Division was to be moved up one month, probably to
some time in late June. As well, an infantry battalion would be sent to
Jamaica, two destroyers would be used to protect oil refineries in the West
Indies, and a RCAF Army Co-operation Squadron would be immediately sent to

Eng1and.5‘ On.May 17 Rogers was able to report that the Ist Division would pe




53 It was also decided that a

prepared to proceed to France on June 15.
third infantry division should be formed, although it was not specified

whether the division would serve at home or overseas. Further commitments
were made by the War Committee on May 22 when it was agreed to comply with
British réqmésts toisen;;i an infantry brigade to Iceland and a rifle battalion
54

to the West Indies. Although the government had now quickly escalated
its funding of divers;e aspects of war-related activities, there is no ev1-
dence to suggest that Ralston opposed any of the above decisions.

The increased activity of the War Committee did little to satiate
the growing appetite of the Conservative opposition for the introduction of
more .extreme measures. In late May, ‘the Conservatives launched an offensive
against King in Parliament, calling for Ralston to succeed him‘as Prime
Minister. Percy Black, the Tory member for Ralston's home county of Cum-
ber?andnfiaid the House on May 27 that "many peoplevin this country are of
the opinion that if [Ralston] were in control at. the present time as Prime
W55

Minister, there would be a feeling of greater confidence. The following

-
-

day Herbert Bruce, a Tory from Toronto, resumed the attack against king. %//

echoed Black's sentiments, maintaining that:

The Minister of Finance enjoys the respect and confidence
of both sides of this house, as well as that of the
people of Capada generally. With his splendid war record,
his undoubted ability in finance and law, his well-known
driving force and character, may I venture to suggest that
he is the one man in the Prime Minister'g»cabinet,..qualified
and equipped to lead a war government. 30
Ironically the Conservative menbérs were under the mistaken impression that
Ralston was being restraincd by his War Committee colleagues. Il
Mackenzie King took the Conservatives' comments very seriously. The
Prime Minister was rather paranoid about conspiracies being designed to
have him removed from office. He believed that the Conservatives were at-
tempting to force the formation of a national aovernment and to bring about




.53

the return of Arthur Meighen to the Commonsig7 On May 29, King recorded in.

his diary that he told the Cabinet:

what [ had said to Ralston before the last etections, that

I thought he was the one who ought to take over, the lgader-

ship of the party. 1 believed many of the party would prefer

him to me....That he had told me he would not consider any-

thing of the kind. [ wanted now, in his presence, to say that

I was quite prepared to step out, even today, and recommend to

the Administrator...the formation of a government under him

it members og Council believed that would help in the present

situation. 59
The threatened resignation was one of King's favourite methods of dissipating
criticism of his leadership. He resorted to the tactic often, and always
with success. After stating his intention to leave office, King would inform
his colleagues that it would be impossible for anyone else to form a viable
government. The fact that King possessedﬁno intention of steppiné down was
made clear by the concluding entry in hissdiarv; "Fhis was a deep-laid plat

4

which affected the whole power of the Government, and I expected my colleagues

to see that it was met in a formidable manner.” 59

Throughout the controversy, Ralston had never considered being dis-

Toyal to King. King was well aware that Ralston would not attempt to cooperate

with the Conservatives, confiding to his diary that “they [the Conservatives]
did not know Ralston. who was incapable of sharing in viewsof the kind."® At
the end of May Ralston was working late in the Prime Minister's office when

King indicated that he was too fatigued to handle the pressure. Ralston reg-

p&nded by informing his leader tﬁat his continued service was essential to

the Allied cause,61

[f Ralston had possessed any desire to replace king, the
Conservatives might have been more successtul in creating dissension within
the Cabinet. With Ralston's continued support of King assured, the challenge

to King's leadership quickly evaporated.




Shortly after the Conservatives launched their assau]gragainst king
in the Commons . a more serious crisis struck the Cabinet. While flying to
a speaking engagement in Toronto on June 10, Noruaw—fOyers was killed when
his plane crashed near Newcastle.62 The tragic death of the Minister of
National Defence came at an inopportune time. Oyerseagi the British Army
was about to be evacuated from the .continent at Dunkirk. Itaiy? anticipating
thé collapse of France, had just declaved its alliance with Germany. The
dJeteriorating situation in Europe was placing additional pressure upan the
War Committee, which was now fac’&i with the threat of Canada being a target
of external attack.

Mackenzie King lost little time in finding a replacement for Pogers.
The Prime Minister was convinced that the only appropriate course of actiom
was %o havé‘RaTston move into the National Defence portfolig. King believed
that the appointment of Ralston "would forestall the fears which would arise.-
63

once the real situation becomes publicly known. " 5”However, when king asked

Ralston to change portfolios on June 13, the Colonel was not overly enthusias-

tic. Ralston explained to King that he enjoyed his responsibilities in Finance,

and feared that National Defence wbuld be too great a strain. ting, as he.
had often done before, appealed to Ralston's sense of du£y, even adding "that
is what 1 felt Rogers would have w%shed.“sq Mot surprisingly, Ralston con-
sented to the change in departments.

Although King immediately made a pubiic énnouncement that Palston
would become the Minister of National Defence, Ralston did not officially
change portfolios antil July 5. The de1ay was caused by Ralston's desire
to present to Parliament the budget that he had been preparing.  Once thé

budget was completed, Ralston suggested to king that James L. [lsley become




the new Minister of Finaﬁceabg [1sTey, also a native of Nova Scotia,

had been serving as the Minister o?iNétiona1 Revenue. King accepted Ral-
ston's advice and appointed [lsley to the Finance portfolio on July 8,
a promotion which included membership on the War Committee.

The appointment of Ralston as the Minister of National Defence was
The Torontc Star published a very positive article

met with enthusiasm.
IH!E;O.

about the wove, concluding that "Col. Ralston takes over the defence tashks

with the complete backing and approgg%, apparently, of the whole of Canada.

The Winnipeg Free Press was equally supportive of the change. cowmenting that

"it will be, we think, the opinion of those Tamiliar with the duties and

responsibilities of this office that this is more than a good appointment
it is the best appointment possible,"®’

The hearty endorsements placed a considerable amount of pressure un
the new Minister of National Defence. The expectations of what Ralston
could accomplish in his new portfolio were extremely high, and perhaps un-

reasonable. A story in the Toronto Star is representative of 'such undue
optimism:
under the expanded war effort [Ralston] envisages there
seems no doubt that, before long, every (anadian man
and woman will be given full opportunity to take part
in the battle against Hitlerism. That tremendous surje
of national enthusiasm, which at some points now seems
to be asking direction, will Find6étse1f harnessed and at
work under the Ralston program. I
[

It is unlikely that even Ralston was aware of what the new 'Ralston program’

would invoive. With the 'limited liability’ phase of -the war now behind him

Ralston would be responsible for mobilizing the nation's manpower and re-
The extent to which this could be

sources at a greatly accelerated rate,
achieved would become an issue which would consume the attention of the

War Committee for the duration of the war,

-
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Chapter 111 .

The 1941 Army Programme

The most important task to confront Ralston ir his first year
as Minister of National Defence was the development of a qoherent army
_programme. There were a«number of factors which required consideration when
determining the‘optimum composition of the Canadian Army. For example, it
was necessary to assess how many troops were needed for home defence, and
how many were available for service overseas. It was also difficult ta
judge how much manpower could be allocated to the armed services, because of
the need to maintain the production of munitions, supplies. and foodstutfs.
Within the services an appropriate balance had to be preserved in the re-
cruitment for the army, 2ir force, and navy. Other problems such as the
most effective length of training and the size of reinforcement poocls turther
complicated matters. All of these variables had to be resolved in a forum
which evaluated that which was administratiwly advisable by that which was
politically feasible. Consequently, it was virtually impossib1e for Ral-
ston to remain in constant agreement with all of his colleagues in the
‘War Committee.

The firsﬁ major step taken in response to the surrender of France

and the increased threat of external invasion was the National Resources

Mobiltization Act (NRMA}. On June 17, the Haerommittee met to discuss the
@pbi1izatibn of persons and property for war purposes. To the wild surprise
of those present, 'Chubby' Power and Ernest Lapointe indicated that they
were in favour of compulsory military service for home defense. C.D.Howe

and 0.D.Skelton, King's close advisor and the Under-Secretary of State for

-59-<
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External Affairs, commented upon the importance of not conscripting
skilled industrial workers, for fear that a shortage of war supplies might
resylt. It was decided that a national registfétien would provide the
most effectiye method of informing &pfencé authorities about the avail-
ability of manpower for the armed forces.] B

As a result of the meeting what was to become known as the National
Resources Mobilization Act was drafted and introduced in the Commons the
following day. The Act conferred broad powers upon the government, enabling
it to use the nation's resources and manpower for the defence of Canada. [n
order to secure the support of thg«Quebec M.P.s for the Act., King reiterated
his pledge that conscription would not be employed for purposes other than
home defence.z_ After the Act had been passed by Parliament, it was decided
that a national registration would be held in late August.

In?the meaétime Mackenzie king was attempting to diffuse the Tories’
perSistent[demandsafor a mational government by inviting prominent individuals
from outside of the government to enter the Cabinet.3 The only person to
accept kKing's offer was Angus L. Macdonald, the Liberal Premier of Nova
Scotia. Hacdona1dis appointmént was part of a rea}ﬁ%nment of responsibility
within the Department of National Defence. When Ralston had accepted the
National Defence portfolio, he had indicated to King that he wiuld require
some assistance because the ministry was too large. Consequently, on July
12 Macdonald was namgd Minister of National Defence for Naval Services,
and 'Chubby' Power, who was already the Minister of National Defence for
Air, became the Associate Minister of National Defence.

With the new appdintments Ralston became the senior defence minister,
responsibte for the Army and all issues which related to defending the coun-

try. In addition to the Air Force and the administration of the BCATP,

1
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Power, as Associate Minister, assisted Ralston and served as acting minister
in his absence. Although it would appear to be a confusing arrangement,

Power recalls in his memgoirs that:

- no difficulty ever arose between Ralston, Macdoﬁa1d and

me about responsibility, authority or functions, largely
because we were on good terms with one another. [ often
sat in with Ralston in matters dealing almost exclusively
with the army, and he took part in the proceedings of the
British Cmﬂnonyea1th AjfrTrgining Plan Supervisory Bo§rd 4
without the slightest conflict ever arising between us.
The ease with which the three ministers worked together may partially be
exgﬁgﬁﬁed by the similarity of their backgrounds; they had a%T served as
infantry soldiers in World War [ and were all former 1awyeré.5 Ralston and
Macdonald, who possessed the additional bond of Nova Scotia provincial poli-
’ticsj, ;ieve1oped an extremely close relationship, which lasted for the duration
of the war.
For much of July and August, the N%r Committee was preoccupied with
the defence of Canada. As early as June 20, Mackenzie King had informed
the Committee that the Canadian Charge d'Affaires in Japan had recommended
that steps be taken to defend the Canadian west coast.6 With the possibility
of Japan becoming an adversary, both Canadian coasts were thought to be
vulnerable to attack. On June 27, Lapointe and King urged the War Committes
that top priority should be given to home defence. As a result the yommittee
agreed that no additional men or supplies would be sent overseas without
very careful conside;atiOn.7 '
In accordance with the new policy, the disposition oﬁ Canadian troops
was discussed on July 4. Power told the War Committee that’ﬁhe ond Divi-
sion was no longer scheduled for despatch to the Uﬁited King‘om, Thg
division, at the request of the British government, had a1rehdy seen some

of its troops sent to [celand and Newfound1and The remaindLr of\Ehe divi-

sion was needed in Canada for home defence. Ralston was becoming increa-
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division arrived in England before the end of the calendar year.
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singly concerned abodt the insufficient training which the volunteers
were receiving. He told the Committee that Major-General Odlum, the
Commanding Officer of the 2nd Division believed that the troops required
an additicna]vthree months' training before they were prepared for aCtiOn.8
Ralston was also worried about a British request that the entire Znd Divi-
sion be sent to Iceland. Such a move wou1d\necessitate the removal of all
available artillery equipment to Iceland, which would cripple the training
of the 3rd and dth Divisions. Although Ralston's request for the edira
three months of training was refused, the Committee agreed that no further
troops would be sent outside of ranada until September 15 by which time the
3rd and 4th Divisions would hgve been trained for home defence~9

The British government, however, persisted in its request for the
entire Znd Division to be sent to Iceland to garrison the island. The
War Committee reconsidered the matter on July 9, de;iding that it would be

possible to despatch an additional infantry brigade from the 2nd Division.

Ralston told the Committee that Canadian troops should only serve in Ice-

land on a temporary basis. The British already had troops stationed in
Iceland, and would remove them if Canada assumed responsibility for defend-
ing the island. In addition, the conditions in Iceland were not conducive
to training because the troops were too scattered.. Ralston-concluded that,
while it would be possible to send an addiéional brigade for an iﬁterim
period, 1t should be done under the condition that the entire Ind Division
would eventually join the st Division in Engiaﬂd.10 The British con-
sentgd to the stipulation, agreeing on July 15 to have the énd Division

11

stationed in Great Britain rather than in [celand. As it turned out.’

units of the 2nd Division spent very little time in [celand; the entire
12

e
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The enphasis which kainyg and Lapointe had urged the War Comittee
Eu place on hume defence was not entively consistent with the actitude
uf the Camadian Chiefs of Staff. On July 26, Major-Generval Haery 0. G,
Crevar, the Chief of the Genewval Staff, gave a veport on home defence to
the War Commi btee, Lrerar totally discounted the possibility of an inva-
sion, arguing that even if Great Britain was to fall, and the Roval Navy und
Avy Foree were to be stationed in Canada, anvERing wove than an occasional
raid was unlikely. Crevar SEeessed chat the priority of the Canadian guvern-
ment shuuld be to resist a Gereman invasion of Beikzin. hen asked by Power
whether more troops should be sent overseas , Crevar responded that they

should be sent over as soon as they could be ,e«:;ui;’weulgﬂ

5

Satistied by Crerar's esplanation, the War Committee velaved its
restr ction un not despatching troops wverseas prior to Seprember 5. Pal-
ston reported to the Conwittee on August 13 that the 2nd Division, with
the excepsion of one ihfantry kimigadre,s was scheduled to depart withio a
week Fior service overseas. Home detence would be the responsibility ot the
Ird Division, while the dth Division would train throughout the winter,m

The v:o:icern over home defence was Further dissipated by the Ogdens-
burg agreement, which was signed vt Audgust 17 by Madkenzie bing and Frank-
Pin D. Roosevelt, the President of the United States. The agreement estab-
lished the Permanent Joint Board on Defence [PIBD]. a comnttee which was
designed to iepovt to the respective governments on matters which velaced
i5 .

to the defence of North America. ” The formation of the PJBD guaranteed

the Canadian government of American assistance in the event of an attack.

When king returned to Ottawa he “found Ralston in highest possible spivi tsﬁ“i'
In discussing the PJBD with Ralston, king recorded that the Minister of
 National Defence “said it had given new life to them all at the befence De-
partment.” 17
S _ " A - sl ——
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Liberated ?rnm[%he‘ﬁnSECUfity which had characterized home defence

considerations, theuﬂefence Department began considering the Canadian avmy
Wrogramme ' For 1941. Ralston introduced the programme to the War Committee

- on October 1.'% One of the salient features of the proposal was a recom-
mendation that a corps of three divisidhs be completed overseas. and a re-
serve army be formed for home déféFCe, Although it was only Ralston's in-
tention to familiarize his COT?EBQL@S with the plan at this time, there were -
already 1ndicétions af Gépogitianw} Angus Macdonald guestioned the wisdom of

enlarging the army programme, warning that "1t was possible that teo much

{

stress might be placed'upon increased contributions of inFantrya“]J king agreed
with Macdonald, ciajming that the United Kingdow had always stressed the priavity
of Canada's contribution to the air force. [t was agreed to deter discussion
gf the programme until Harry Crerar could weet with the Comi Etey.

Crerar attended the War Committee meeting of October 9. and elaborated
upon the proposed army programme, The Chief of the Gemeral Staff reported
that it would be necessary to raise a Sth and 6th Division, as well as btwo

armoured divisions. Part of the increase in the size of the army, ‘rerar wain-

tained, was due to recommendations which had been made~by the PJBD. Ralston  *

pointed out that the three service staffs had attempted to reduce any dupli-

cation between them which might result in added expenditures, but none could

—

be found. 1l1sley, the Minister of Finance, requested that he be given an
opportunity to review the departmental estimates before any decisiun was wade.
He warned the three Defence Ministers, however, that their combined estimates

totalled 1.3 billion dollars, a Tigure which could not be supported by cur-

rent nationai'productioﬁaig
While Ralston impatiently awaited [1sley's report, he made another

w
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controversial proposal to the War Conmitiee, Compulsory military training

had commenced on October 9, but the training period was for a duration of
only thirty days. Ralston believed that it was impossible to train soldiers
adeguately in one month. Consequentiy, he recommended to the War Cowmitieg
|
on Qctober 23 that theftraining period be extended to four months. He ex=
plained that "it was felt that four months was the minimum time within which
trainees could be taught the fundamentals of Suidiering@““] According to
Ralston's suggestion., the curvent training sessions would be suspended for
three months after the second thirty-day period had been completed. with the
four month training plan commencing in Maych of 1941,

The most vigorous opposition to the extension of the traininy
period came from Angus Macdonald. The Minister for Naval Services argued
that a Four month wilitary training programme was of no use to the Air Force
and Navy. In addition. he objected to the philosophy upon which the recom-
mendation was based:

The emphasis upon producing infantry in large numbers was...
entirely wrong. From present indications there would be
nothing to do with these men when they were trained....
Under present conditions and conditions as #e foresaw them,
the needs of the Navy and the Air Force would continue

to require first attention. =+

‘Chubby’ Power, while less vehement than Macdonald, also had some reservations

about the plan. He hoped that a 30-day pTaﬁACQUTd be incorporated within

the four month scheme which would allow individuals to be selected for the

Navy, Air Force. or essential industry after one wonth's training. FRalston,

who could see nothing wrong with Power's sqégestion; agreed to consult the
o

Chietf of the General Staff regarding its imﬁ1ementation. On ctober 41,
W

Ralston was able to report that it would beipqSSibie to develop a plan which

|
I
!

]




would allow trainees to leave the programme after one month for the other

services or war "ilndust:ir‘y."“3 In spite of Macdonald’'s earlier protestations,

-the War Committee gave its approval to the amended pvoposal.

Discussions resumed concerning the ramifications of the estimates
of the Army, Navy and Air Force on October 24. Clifford Clark, who had con-
tinued on as Deputy Minister of Finance after Ralston had changed portfolios,
told the War Committee that total government expenditure in Canada must be
held to 45% of the national 1’*ri(:romeu24 He estimated ~ that the federal budget
would requirg approximately 2 billion dollars for 1947, with the provinces
and municipa}itiers expropriating an additional 1 billion doliars. According
to Clark, this would represent 60% of the national income. To achieve the
45% ceiling, either expenditures would have to be reduced. or the nation's
productive capacity would have to be drastically increased. Ralston stre-
nuously objected to Clark's philosophy. The Army Programme, Ra1§t0n con -
tended, was designed to conform to military necessities, not to the nation's
pocketbook. When I1sley had introduced the most recent budget, Ralston re-
minded the War Committee ,"it héd been made abundantly c¢lear that the Oﬂ‘rl‘y
Timit upon Canada's war ‘effoﬁrt was a physical one, that of men and mateﬁahﬁ‘z
The Commi ttee once again agreed to defer discussion of the subject until a

clearer estimate of the nation's fiscal capacity could be made.

i

The fate of Ralston's 1941 Army Programme was still undecided when
the Minister,of National Defence departed for England on November 19. Ral-
ston was visiting the United Kingdom to ensure that the |}ammy pYogramne cor-
responded to the needs of the British. With €.D.-Howe also scheduled to em-
bark on a similar mission, Mackenzie King was re?%ctant to have Ralston leave,
commenting in his diary "He is the most helpful of 311 the colleagues on the
war eff'ort."%

One of Ralston's responsibilities while in England was to arrange
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with the British War Office for the formation of the 1st Canadian Corps.
The delay in the despatch of the 2nd Division had necessitated the incor-
poration of the lst Division within the 7th British Corps.z? With the
arrival of the 2nd Division, it was now possible to form a distinctly
Canadian Corps. The only problem which remained to be solved concerned

the fuﬁding of the British non-divisional units which would continue to be

w

a part of the new Cor‘p::,s‘*8 Mackenzie King hoped that the negotiations
could be completed quickly) enabling him to wake a publiv announcement on

Christmas Eve. Ralston,-unfortunately, was sutfering from a severe bout of

- sciatica, and was confined for much of his visit to the Royal Masoni: Hos-

pital at Hammersmith.
In spite of Ralston's illness, he was able to arrive at a satistac-
tory agreement with the British War Office. At the meeting during.which
the deal was consummated, Maurice Pope, Crerar's senior General Staff officer
in London, recalls that: ¥
~ Though he was hobbling about on crutches and in much pain,
I never saw Mr. Ralston in better form. Here the old
- -corporation lawyer was at his best. Lucidly he put the
case reflected in our formula, with a suave persuasiveness
I had never before seen in him. ¢
After the meeting had reached its successful conclusion, Pope handed Ralston
a dratt of a telegram to Mackenzie King which would enable the Prime Minister
to proceed with his desired anncuncement. Ralston, in pain and anxious to
return to the hospital for treatment, quickly authorized the despatch of

the cable. By this time, Ralston's penchant for detail and his inability to

,delegate menial work had reached almost mythical proporth?yg, Consegquently

the Facile manner in which Ralston had approved the telegram to king amazed
Harry Crerar, who jokingly remarked to Pope: "well, by God, this is the

first time the Minister has ever passed a page of toolscap without amending

it 30 o




Although his illness and the formation of the Canadian Corps occupied
mych of his time, Ralston's main concern continued to be the Army Programme.
As he told the House of Commons Following his return to Ottawa, the purpose
of his United ﬁingdom visit was "Firsg~ to set out what we were doing:
second, to see if our programme was in step with their own, and, third, to
get their views on how our ccntributfon might be made most efFective."B]“

To achieve his ggal, Ralston had a number of conferences with tup British
afficials. The‘ﬁiniéter of National Defence had detailed briefing sessions
with the three Briggish service ministers and their staffs: Anthony Eden. the
Secretary of State for War: and Captain Margesson. who replaced Eden as Secre-
tary of State for War during Ralston's visitT In addition, Raiston had three
discussion; with Sir Allan Brooke, the .commander-in-chief of the British home
forces. Ralgton was also received on four occasions by Winston Cﬁurchi11w with
whom Ralston exchanged views on the broader issues of the wan32

The information which was obtained from the various British officials
led Ralston, Crerar and McNaughton to make some revisions to the Army Pro-
gramme. Anxious to have the programme approved as guickly as possible, Ral-
ston sent a lengthy telegram to Mackenzie King, describing the amended pru-
posals. The programme now involved:

1} the despatch during the first guarter of 1941 of the balance of

corps troops now mobilized in Canada for Canadian Corps of
two divisions;

2) the despatch of the 3rd Division and complement of Corps troups
whenever the eguipment situwation in Canada pevmits, hopetully
by May 1947,

3} the despatch in the first half of 1941 of an Army Tank Brigade
for employment with the Canadian Corps; +

4} the despatch by early autumn -of 1941 of the Canadian Armoured
Division; ) :

5) the despatch of the 4th Division by the summer of 194C.
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The program&e differed from tﬁe one which Ralston and Crerar had
previously presented to the War Committee in three respects. The first
chénge was the addition of the Tank Brigade. Ralston had become convinced
of the merit of forming such a unit following discussions with Crerar and
McNaughton. It was felt that the inclusion of an armoured formation in
the Corps would accenfuate the effectiveness ofwthe infantry divisions. As
well, the Tank Brigade could make use of the Mark [Il infantry tanks which
were about to be‘produced by Canadian industry. The second alteration in-
volved the postponement of the 4th Division's scheduled departure for
England until 1942. The continued presence of the 4th Division in Canada led
to the final revision, because it would nérlonger be necessary to raise a
6th Division for home defence in the 1941 fiscal year.

Ralston concluded the telegram to King with a plea for the swift
authorization of the programme: |

I trust these reasons will approve themselves to you. |
would prefer to make my report to War Committee of Cabinet
in person but on the other hand time is passing rapidly and
there is so much to be done that I feel it is important

that even days be not lost in making staff plans. [ have

therefore felt justified im authorizing Crerar to wive

[Department officials in Ottawa] indicating that 1 would be
making the recommendations above and instructing [them]. ..
to make confidential study and plans in advance so that not
a moment may be lost when approval has been given.

Ralston's optimism redgarding the War Committee's support for the re-
vised Army Programme was mispiaced. During his absence, Ralston's colleagues
had become increasingly adverse to expanding the army. On December 18, Mac-
kenzie King told the War Committee that he perceived the navy, air force and
war industry to be more important than the armya35 Macdonald went further
than King, claiming that it would be absurd to increase the size of the army

under current conditions. Ralston's positionh was attacked again at a meet-

»
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ing on January 2, when expenditure controls were discussed. kingvpree
cipitated a torrent of opposition to the Army Programme by repeating his
opinion that ewiphasis should be placed on air and sea power. 'Chubby' Power agreed
with King, suggesting that the British should be informed that the Canadian
government would not Eaise any more army units. After Macdonald reiterated

his denunciation of the utility of infantry, T.A.Crerar questioned the need

For the Sth and 6th Divisions. 0

Although no decisions were made prior to
Ralston's return. khe majority of the members uf the War Committee had Je-
veloped a deeper aversian‘to the Army Programme.

Ralston Tinally arrived back in Ottawa on January 24. The eiqht weeks
which Ralston had spent overseas coincided with the German's aerial bombing

of Britain. When Mackenzie King welcomed him home, Ralston confided%to the

) TPrimeuﬁinister.that conditions in Britain were much worse than public perception

would indicate, and “thé% he had come back, he would not say anglicized, but
filled with more admiration for the people of England than ever, and teeling
that everything possibie should be done to help wjn."37 Raiston believed
that one way in which Canada could be of tremendous assistance to Britain
was in the supply of manpower. Even though Germany was prepared to invade

at any time, the British had been forced to send large quantities of troops

" to other theatres of war, such as North Africa.

Later that afternoon, Ralston gave a report of his Findings in the

United Kingdom to thé War Committee. To a large extent, he r&peaied the

sentiments which he had eariier expressed to king. According to the minutes
of the meeting, Ralston did not equivocate in his advice to the Committee:
as regards the army, he had not realized before visiting

the United Kingdom how great was the need for men. The
position of the Commander-in-Chief of the Home Forces




[Sir AlTan Brooke] had impressed this upon him. Shortage

of manpower had- resulted from requirements in the Mediterr-

anean, and the heavy demands of war industry. His con-

clusions as to how Canada could best help|in regard to the

army had been embodied in the telegram which. he had sent

from London, outTining his recommended programne tor

the Canadian Army for 1941....

A Canadian Corps of three Divisions, with the army

tank brigade and ancillary troops, would constitute appro-

priate and usefyl assistance, tpis year, for the defence
3, of Britain. *
L
Ralston concluded his remarks by strongly urging the acceptance »of the
Army Programme. 7

The War Committee intensely scrutinized Ralston's proposed pro-
gramme for two days, beginning on January 27. The first item to be dis-
cussed, while not part of the actual Army Programme, was considered £ be
essential by the General Staff. Although the extension of the compulsory
training sessions to four months had been approved in principle on Uctober 31,
theAGeneral Staff had encountered some difficulty in adhering to the stipu-
lation that the original thirty-day plan be retained for those who wished
to volunteer for one of the other services. On January 27 Ralston out-
lined the General Staff's new scheme. which allowed individuals to volun-
teer for active duty in the navy or air force after they had trained for two
months. It would also be possible for key war industry personnel to be with-
drawn at the request of their employers after they had rcompleted a manda-
tory two months of training. Ralston anticipated that, by calling up men
of twenty-one years of age every month, 64,000 troops would be trained
per year. 39
The General Staff's revised proposal did not imitially meet with

general acceptance. Predictably, Angus Macdonald voiced his opposition to
the entire philosophy of a four-month training programme, waintaining that

the thirty-day plan was adequate. T.A.Crerar expressed the concern that
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the production of supplies might be adversely affected. and suguested that
it would be more advéntageOUS to simply have a recruiting campaign when

reinforcements were required. The difection‘of the debate was reversed,

flowever, when Mackenzie King implied thgc.he supported the new Four-month
If

scheme. Ralston then reassured the Com&jttee that the trainees would only

be used for home defence, where they would provide a competent reserve army
which could replace the active formations *hich were sent overseas. The

discussion was concluded when Harry Crerar, the Chief of the General Staff,
40

1
told the meeting that the proposal was ‘?bsolutely essential’. The Com-

mittee approved the amended four-month training programme the Following Jav.

i

The War Commi titee could now ccnc%ntrate exclusively upon the 1941
Army Programme. On January 27 [lsiey was}ab1e to announce that the Depart-
mént of Finance had »s<ablished a 1.3 billion dollar ceiling for war-related
expenditures. [lsle, -laimed that the 1.3 billion dollar Timit would repre-
sent such a large proportion of the nmational income that Canadians would be
forced to make sacrifices which they might be unwilling to accept. With
the combined estimates of the threg services and the Department of Munitions
and Supply totalling 1.5 billion dollars, [lsley insisted that it would
be necessary to reduce the proposed expenditures by 200 wmillion do11ars.42
The Committee agreed that I1sley, Howe, Power, Macdonald and Ralston §h0ﬁ1d
hold a private meeting to attempt to arrive at a formula for decreasing their
respective estimates, and report back to the full Committee the following
afternoon.

Financial limitations were not the only restraining forre being
placed on the Army Programme. Before the meeting adjourned on January 27,
Harry Crerar was requested to elaborate upon some of the reasons for es-

panding the Army. Angus Macdonald told Crerar that the General Staff was

'
)
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placing too much emphasis on land troops. In response Crerar pointed out
that Sir Allan Brooke, the British Chief of the Home Forces, had stressed
how urgently men were needed to meet the possibility of a German invasion.
The Tank Brigade was also a high priority, Crerar maintained, because jt
would be impossible to equip the Armoured Division prior to 1942643 Al though
it is unlikely Crerar and Ralston convinced the War Committee of thé military
necessit} of the army programme. no one was prepared to offer any further
objections. The only future obstacles which had to be overcome to secure

the programme’s adoption would be financially based.

When the War Committee reconvened the following day. [1sley reported

tﬁat no progress had beeéemade at the meeting with the three defence mini-

|

| . .
sFers and Howe.a4 None of the ministers were prepared to reduce their es-
|

timates, proposing instead to ask Parliament for 1.3 billion dollars . and
hiope that various delays in the re§pective programnes would reduce the need
for funding by 200 million dollars. King immedidtely objected to this pro-
cedure, claiming that excessive spending could disrupt national unity.45
Ralston attempted to explain his position by demonstrating that it
was unlikely that all three service programmes would bé completed within
the next fiscal year. Therefore, they could be passed in their entirety,
while only budgeting for the 1.3 billion dollar ceiling. In the event that
the spending limit was exceeded, it could be covered by an anticipated in-
crease in the national incqﬁe. King continued to be unimpressed by this
revolutionary departure frgm the established procedure of estimate approval.
With the support of Ilsley, Crerar and Macdonald the Prime Minister insisted
that the programmes be devised to fit within the expenditure limit. The
War Committee then agreed that Ralston, Howe, Power, and Macdonald should

|

|
Fhe reductions should be allocated.

fi
il

h
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meet once again to decide how
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Ralston could not abide by the War Committee's decision. Convinced
of the necessity of the entire Army Programme. Raiston told the Commi tiee
before it adjourned on January 28 that:
so far as the Arvmy was concerned he did not propose
to alter the programme which had been submitted, or
eliminate any projects therein contained. By
addenda to his draft estimates, he would, however,
readjust total figqures so as to bring about required
reductions.
Surprisingly Ralston's decision to decrease the numbers involved in his
estimates. without making any corresponding amendments Lo the Army Pro-
Jramme , Jdid not create any undue concern on the part of the War Commitiee.
Jn January 29, Ralston informed his colleagues that he had reduced the
Army's anticipated expenditure by over 100 million dollars, subject tu
the reservation which he had expressed at the preceding meeting. With-

o

out the objection of a single member of the Committee being raised, the.
Army Programme finally received officia].authorization‘al

The struggle for approval completed, Ralston was now faced with
the responsibility of administering the programme. Ralston's task was

to be continually complicated by the anti-army orientation of his col-

leaques. As demonstrated by theiv reluctance to allocate financial support

to an expanded army, the majcri;y of the War Committee were not commi{ted
to the maintenance of a Targe land force.  With the political anathema of
conscription always paramount in his wmind, Mackenzie king sought to avuid
the establishment of too many infantry units overseas, where the casual-

ties were always the greatest. Consequently, Ralston was always at a dis-
advantage in attempting {o procure increasingly scarce manpower resources

for service within the irmy.
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Chapter IV

The Politics of Principle

The approval of the army programme vepresented only a temﬁorafy
success For Ralston. From the time of the programme's inception, Ralston
was hampered in its administration by declining voluntary enlistment and
a 1ack‘of support from his fellow War Committee members. The problem was
complicated by recurring demands from the General Staff for further ex-

pansion of the Army at home and overseas. The Conservative opposition was

very critical of what it perceived to be the government's Tack of commit-

ment to the Army, and eventually began to press for the introduction of
conscription for service overseas. - A series ¢gf evgnts.begiﬁﬁing with a
recruiting shortage in April 1941, caused Ralston to become increasingly
distressed<over the low priority which King allocated to the Army within

the context of the total war effort. By July 1942} Ralston's concern over

~the Prime Minister's attitude towards the Army had escalated to the point

where he be1ieged that he could no 10nge} serve in the King government.
The deterioration of the relationship between King and Ralston was repre-
sentative of a profound difference in the character of the two men. King
was politically astute, and would delay and compromise rather than confront
a contentious issue, Conversely, Ralston was decisive with a decided

preference for quick action over vacillation. As Mackenzie King was well

aware, Ralston had not returned to public life in 1939 to refine the prac-

" tice of conciliation. R

The first major indication that the Army “d@“exp?%iéﬁCi"g diffi-
(9] B ‘L
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culty in fulfilling 1ts recruiting requiremeﬁts came at- a War Committee
meeting inApril1941. Ralston told the Committee that over the preceding
three months a total deficiency of 6,900 men had developed. To offset

the problem, Ralston suggested that graduates from the compulsory train-

ing programme be retained for home defence, thus releasing volunteers

from such duties for gverseas service¢] Recruiting had fallen behind,

éa1st0n explained, Iagge]y because of the increased demand for personnel

‘ which was created by the new Army Progr‘amme.2 The General Staff had an-

ticipated that the increased need for reinforcements would be met by
members of the Reserve Armw‘vaiunteering for active service. Ralston ad-
mitted, however, that the response of the reserve units had not met ex-

pEctatifnsa fronically, only the French-Canadian units had produced a

sufficiént_ﬁumber of veinforcements.> Under the circumstances——the War

__ Committee agreed to Ralston’s proposal that individya1s trained under

——— e

the Natﬁonai Resources Mobilization Act be compelled to serve in home
defence units.
Although Ralston was successful in h;ving his- recommendation adopted.
é rather ominous discusgion developed at\fge meeting. In commenting upon
the shortage of recruits, Ralston noted that: “conscription for ogverseas
service was impossibfe from the point of view of national unity: other-
.wise it might be the proper policy to meet the whole situation“’4 Despite
Ralston's recognition that conscription was 'impossible’, Mackenzie King
became extremely agitated, telling the Committee that comscription "would
not only create divisions in the country, but it would in the Government;
that there would have to be another Government if that step were taken;
that the people had returned us with the understanding that there would

be no conscription for overseas."S King, who was virtually paranoid about

54
By




-80-.

the conscription issue, distrusted heavy demands on the nation's supply
of manpower. As King recorded in his diary on April 23. “f have felt from
the start that Ralston was allowing his men to have us take on more than
'we really should have in the Army. having regard to what we are doing in
the air and the Navya“S [
in addition to the policy of conscripting NRMA wen for home detence,
4the War Committee decided to launch a national recruiting caﬁpaiqn47 Mac-
kenzie King was strongly in favour of such an appeal being wmade, hoping rhat
it would Tessen demands for more extreme measuresw8 Ralston was aiso sup-
portive of the plan to begin an intense solicitation for army recruits. The
campaign which was to commence on May 11 was confidently announced by Ral-
smninUmlhmepfﬁmmms:
? 1 feel it is part of the day's work of the Department of
© National-Defence to get these men. It is part of the
day's work to get these men in, have them realize
theiv duty and realize the need. And I have little doubt

that we will be successful, and that the number of men
required will be obtained.

In spite of Ralston's optfmism, it was not to prove ;é be an easy task to
reach the appeal's wgoal of approximately 30,000 volunteers. h
Although all of Ralston’s recommendations for resolving the Army ‘s
recruitment shortage had adhered to the government's policy of voluntary
enlistment for overseas ser#ice, Mackenzie King was becémﬁng increasingly
uneasy. On Ap%ii 30 and May 9 the Prime Minister convened meetings of the
War Committee in an effort to solidify the government's position ohobtaininy

X

recruits for the armj. King used. the opportunity to clearly state his be-

!

lief that the prdpucjion of weaﬁoan‘shouid take p%ecedence over 'mere
numbers’ of troopéaiy King, usually noted for his penchant to eguivocate,

was explicit in his oppsition to conscription:
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The present government couid have no thought of con-
scription for overseas service under any circumstances.
There should be no misunderstanding on that score. The
compelTing reasons for this stand, on the part of the
government were the maintenance of unity within C??adaﬁ
and the eventual need of men on this continent.
Ralston's response to King was logical and utilitarian. He ack-
nowledged that the demands of war industry had inhibited recruiting.
The Minister of National Defence pointed out, however, that there were
fewer men now engaged in active seryice than there were at the same
point during World War I. While on March 31, 1916 there had been 275.000
active volunteers, there were now only 254,000 such mens1“ Given the in-
¢rease in the nation's population, Ralston reasoned that it should still
be possible to raise more troops. Although Ralston differed with king
on the priority that should be given to the Army in the war effort, the
two were nat seriously at odds over conscription. Ralston told the Com-
mittee on May 9:
that he was equallyopposed to conscription for overseas
service, at present, but felt that it would be a mis-
take to say now that such a policy would never be neces-
sary under any possible circumstances. The government
had consistently adopted the attitude that they would
meet new situations as they arose. Personally he would
not wish to commit himself, on this subject for 411 time...
in any event there was now no need for compulsion to obtain
all the men needed for overseas service. Canada had not
yet scratched the surface of her supply of manpower as
was shown by a comparison of numbers of men raised for
service abroad during the last war. '3 -
Obviously Ralston was not advocating the use of conscription to meet
the existing manpower needs of the Army. He was, however, unwilling to
forever dismiss compulsion as a possible method "of veacting to future
emergepcies.
Any remaining doubts that Mackenzie King may have had about

Ralston's commitment to the policy of voluntary enlistment should have
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been erased by the remarks of the Minister of National Defence‘in the

House of Cbmmons on May 12. Herbert Bruce, a Toronto Conservative, precipi-
tated the outburst From Ralston by suggesting that voTﬁntary recrui tment

was not effective and that "selective compulsory enlistment is the only fair

and efficient way to meet the complex needs of Canadai'“14 Ralston im-

mediately responded to Bruce by emphasizing the need to maintain national unity :
i
I say to my hon. friend in all seriousness that at this
time there is no need of advocating a system such as he
suggests. I am advised that there are men in this country
and plenty of them to fill all our requirments, with re-
gard to the navy, the army, the air force and industrial
production.... I point out to him that this country in 1917
was seared, was divided, by the very issue which he mentions.
We have unity in this country, and I ask my hon. friend to
». try to help us preserve it, rather than attempting to
drive a wedge of disunion into a war eff?gt of which 1 ‘
think Canada ought well to be proud.

Political partisanship aside, Ralston's comments reflected a sincere desire to
make the system éf vo1untanf’en1istmeﬂt work .

If anything, Ralston was becoming somewhat overly zealous in his
attempt to procure the recruits voluntarily. On May 20. Ralston told the
War Committee that recruiting had been hindered because the Canadian forces
had not yet been actively engaged. “It‘waé unfortunately true”, Ralston la-
mented, but. "it would be of great assistance if opportunity were to be of-
fered for Canadians to meet the enemy} even in small scale operations.“16
Ralston warned that the lack of activity that the_Army was experienc-
ing in England was causing a serious deteriora;icn of morate. T. A. Crerar
and Power agreed with Ra1ston- arguing that the success of the recruiting
campaign was contingent upon some form of action overseas. ‘
The proposal did not receive the endorsement of King who maintained

that it was wrong to 'sacrifice life to arguse public sentiment'.]7 The Prime

Minister reminded the Committee that the British High Command was responsible

' for the employment of Canadian troops. If the British would consent to the
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.use of Canadian troops outside of the United Kingdom, King conceded that he

would notystand in the way. Consequently. it was decided to send a tele-
gram-to the British government which stated that the Canadian government
was prepared to have the 3rd Division serve outside of the United Kingdom,
if the War Office deemed such a move advisab?e‘18 The British, however,
prefered to have the 3rd Division arrive in England as scheduled. As a re-
sult the ré%ruitinq campaign had to proceed without the benefit of any
spectacular publicity from overseas.

The appeal for additional volunteers was not progressing as well
as Ralston had hoped. On June 3, he reported to the War Committee that
only 20% of the goal of 32,434 men had thus far been obtainediig It was de-
cided thatvaii of the Members of the“House should work together with their J
district committees in an eFfort to stimulate the recruiting process.

In spite of the recruitingproblems . Ralston advised that the War
Committee should proceed with a further expansion of the Army. On June 5,
Ralston }equested that authority be given for the mobilization of a 5th Divi-
sion. The new division was required to ensure that there would be two full
divisions left in Canada following the despatch of the 3rd Division and the

20 'Chubby’ Power supported Ralston's proposal, pointing

Armoured Division.
out that there was more manpower available than had originaily been anti-
cipated. Initially reticent about Ralston's Army Programme, Power was now
Eonvinced that an army of five infantry divisions, an armoured division and

a tank brigade was consistent with the nation's resources. The Chief of

the General Staff, Harry Crerar, told the Committee that because there were
already eight infantry battalions available for the new division, only 3,000

additional men would be required.

i
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Mackenzie King was not convinced. The Prime Minister feared
that the mobilization of another division <could-lead to conscription or
would create too great a strain on the economy. The navy, air ferce, and
war industry, King maintained, were still the fivst priorities. T.A. Crerar
and Lapointe agreed with ginga arguing that equipment wés far more imﬁortant
thar a large army. The increased emphasis upon the infantry vemained a

t .
mystery to Angus Macdonald, who continued to advocate the production of more

ships and airplanes. Although Harry Crerar demonstrated that only one out
of every ten Canadian men between the ages of 19 and 45 was currently in one

of the services, the authorization for the Sth Division was deferred for fur-
5 !
2

ther consideration.

Mackenzie King was becoming increasingly distressed over the slug-
gish results of the recruiting campaign and the pressure to expand the army.
" On June 10, éhe Prime Minister met privately with Macdonald and Ralston to
attempt to moderate the demands of the Defence Department. As was his cus-
tom King began the discussion by thrgatenihg to resign, and advising either
Ralston or Macdonald to prepare to become his successor. King recorded in
his diary that he explained to his two Defence Ministers: -

That 1 thought there was such a difference growing up
between the Defence Department and the Civil Government

in matters of policy generaily that I.could not longer

hold the two together. That I could see there was a
growing pressure for conscription. That I would be pleased
to be out of the fight altogether before that battle came;
also that I could not countenance the country being com-
witted to projects it was incapable of carrying out....I
also thought [my experience] had given me a certain degree
of political wisdom and of judgment but, when | saw that
judgment being put to one side and matters pressed from other
angles, 1 could no& think of continuing to be put in a
false position. Z

After Ralston and Macdonald had‘given King the expected reassurance -
. of the indispensability of his:leadership, the Prime Minister went on the

offensive. King emphasized that his resignation would cause civil war and

&y
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a total disruption of the war effort. The meeting, according to the
Prime Minister, was a success:
I could see they both realized just where the Government
was likely to be if either of them were left to take
responsibility of leadership, and Macdonald said I was
quite right in not having Canada take on things she could
not do. I could see clearly that the mischief is in the
Defence Depgrtment dealing so exclusively with Government
matters. <3
King's perception aside, there is no evidence to suggest that Ralston
was dissuaded from his commitment to the army as a result of the meeting.
While King and the majority of the members of the War Committee
were being critical of Ralston for being too receptive to demands for the
Army's expansion, the Conservatives began to denounce him for not ad-
vogpting move extreme measures. In the House of Commons an June 13,
Herbert Bruce quoted the letter that Ralston had written to the Halifax
Chronicle in 1917, in which he had endorsed the policy of conscription.

e

. . . . .
Bruce asked Ralston o explain whether "he considers the situation today

lesé critical than it was in December, 1917."24

Ralston responded to Bruce by emphasizing a number of differences
between 1917 and 1941. [In December of 1917, there had been numerous
recruiting drives and tens of thousands of casualties. Reinforcements
had been in such short supply that the fifth division was dismantled. In
June of 1941, however, there had been only about 700 casuvaltiegs, the Army
had ndt‘yet seen actibﬁ, and they were in the midst of.their first recruit-
ing cambaigﬁ. In addiiion, Ralston's personal position was considerably
different. -When he had written the telegram in 1917, Ralston wa§‘in the
emotional position of a battalion commander who had witnessed tﬁe deci-

mation of his troopS at Passchendaéle. Ralston concluded his ;omparison‘




of the conflicting circumstances by acknowledging the damage that
conscription had done to national unity:

The condition then and the condition now cannot be
compared. We are at this time=Iengaged in the first
intensive campaign for recruits since this war began -
the very first. And [ ask my hon. friend, in all
seriousness as a citizen of Canada: why raise this
question of conscription at this time? He knows that
in 1917 it split Canada from top to bottom. <%

s

Ralston, whatever his attachment to the Army , was well aware of the many
liabiifties of conscription.

*fhe easiest method for Ralston to relieve the pressure which
he was experiencing %rem his Cabinet colleagues on one side., and the
Tories on the other, was to have the recruiting campaign achieve its de-
sired result. The situation was partially ameliorated on June lZ when the
Cabinet was advised that Germany had attacked Russia. The new‘German of=
fensive virtually erased the possibility of an invasion of Britain. thus.
easing the c@hadian‘positioni Coincidentally, the recruiting drive began
to gather momentum. On June 24 Ralston was able to inform the War Com-
mittee that, although only 53% of the total quota had been attained, "there
Wi

was no need to be discouraged as to the campaign's ultimate outcome.

o

Ralston's optimism was proven to be justified when, on July 15. he announced
to the Committee that ihe goal of 355000 men had been exceeded.zy
With the recruiting appeal successfully completed, Ralston im-

mediéteiy resumed his réquest'for the mobilization of an additional infan-
try division. Ralston told the War Committee that. in the time that had
elapsed since his intit%a1 recommendation on June 5, the Armoured Division
had received the designation of the 5th (Armoured) Division, A new Jivi-
sion, therefore, ch]d become known as the 6th Division. The 6th Bivision,

I ) . , ‘ ‘ = : ..
Raiston reiterated, would be essential for home defence after the 3rd Divi-

w
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sion and the 5th (Armoured) Division were despatched overseas. Because
of existing infantry battalions, it would only be necessary to obtain 5,400
additional men to form the new division. Thevrecruits, whose deployment
was to be restricted to Canadian soil, could be drawn from the compulsory
training programme. Mackenzie King continued to be reluctant to approve
of any further exp?nsiOﬂ of the army. He told Ralston and the Committee
that air superiority was preferable to a large army. Ever fearful of the
possibility of conscription, King succeeded in having a decision about
the division once again deferr-edm28
The War Committee met to resolve the issue of the mobilization of
the 6th Division on July 29. After Rals@on had repeated his reasons for
recommending the formation of the Division, he pointed out that a report by
the Adjutant-General indicated that there were 700,000 men between 19 and
45 years of age who were still available for the ;ervicesa According to
Ralston: "this meant that, after allowing for the requirements of the Navy
and the Air Force, there was sufficient manpower available in Canada to
permit of the mobilization of eight divisions (six overseas and two Home
Defence) and their maintemance for a period of five years from December 31,
1942."29 While the current proposal only involved six divisions, Ralston
hinted that the eventual deployment of the 4th Division overseas would
necessitate a 7th Division for Home Defence. It was appropriate to em-
phasize the need for a large army within the war effort, Ralston argued,
because the German Army had 250 divisions, compared to Britain's 60.
Mackenzie King remained dubious. The Prime Minister continued to
believe that the army should be a Tow priority in comparison the navy,

alr force and war industry. Unfortunately for King, he could not oppose
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the 6th Division without reneging on previous commitments. It had al-
ready been confirmed that the 3rd and Sth Divisions were to¢ serve in the
United Kingdom, and an arrangement wjth the PJBD required Canada to pro-
vide two divisions for home defence. Consequently Kinq reluctantly agreed
to have the 6th Division mobilized. With the exception of Power, the R —
remaining members of the War Committee shared King's reservations about an
expanded army. Therefore, it is not surprisingthat the Committee's approval
for the 6th Division was subject to the condition that no further increases
be made by the army;BO

Shortly after the decision to proceed with the nth Division, MackenZie
King embarked upon his first visit to the United Kingdem since the outbreak
of the war. While in Engiand,‘King had several conversations with both
Churchill and McNaughton. The Canadian Prime Minister was pleased to learn
that Churchill did not believe that conscription would be necessary in Cana-

3

da . King's spirits were Further elevated when McNaughton indicated that:

"this was a war of production of supplies and that what we should do in

Canada is to get a complete survey of our labour and have it proportioned
in the way that would be of greatest SErvice."32
King was somewhat alarmed, however, at the antipathy that McNaughion i

possessed for Ralston. On August 28, King asked the Commander of the Cana-
dian Corps whether a visit from Ralston would be beneficial. king noted
McNaughton's response in his diary:

You have asked me a straight question and I will give

you a straight answer. [ do not think it would....

Ralston took far too much in the way of details into

his own hand. That they all found him rather difficult.

That he wanted to do too much, and had got out ogghis )
own Ministerial sphere into matters beyond it.

King, who 'couid Eee that there was real feeling thege‘, resalved to attempt
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to dissuade Ralston from venturing over5935534

Upon his return to Ottawa, King gave the War Committee a report
of his visit. He impressed upon the Committee Churchill's comment that ﬁ l
there was no reason to introduce conscription in Canan. As well, King
used Churchi]?'%‘remarks to question the emphasis upon a large Canadian Army,
claiming that the Prime Minister of Britain believed that “the most effec-

tive contribution which could be made by Canada was in the field of supply«

S

and in the productibn of the urgentiy needed implements of war."§5

[roni-
cally King could not foresee that Churchill would become one of the most
influential advocates of the Army's next expansion.

King had notvfurgotten McNaughton's hostility regarding the
prospect of a visit from Ralston. On September 10. King requested that
Cabinet ministers limit their trips td the United Kiﬁgdom, under the pre-
tense that the public should not receive the impression that Britain was
directing the Canadian war efforta36 The Prime Minister admitted to his
diary, however, that "1 was really trying to persuade Ralston not to go over
at present.>’ Ralston,oblivious to the motivation behind King's edict, in-
sisted that it was essential that he proceed to England. 1t was Ralston's
intention to confer with McNaughton about the role of the %anadian Corps and
the most e%?ective deployment of the 4th Division.38 Although King made
an earnest attempt to at least have him delay the trip, Ralston was adamant
that he depart before the weather Jeteriorated.

There is no evidence to suggest that Ralston's visit to England
in early October causea/gﬂgdunﬁue friction to develop with McNaughton. The

only indication of any disayreement came at a meeting between Ralston.

I
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McNaughton and Harry Crerar. Crerar suggested to McMaughton that it might
be possible to héve the Canadian Corps, either in whole or in part, actiber
engaged in the Middle East. Mcﬁaughton reéponded that the Corps should re-
main in England for the winter, and if it was to participate in an operation,
it should do s0 as a fu]J‘Corpsa39 Although the dhestion of splitting the Army
would become more contentious as the waruprogressed, Ralston did not express
any dissatisfaction with McMaughton's position in 1941. The mo$t ominous
occurrence in rg1at10ﬁship to Ralston's dg?ficuity with McNaughton came after
Ralston had returned to Ottawa. When reporting upon his visit, Ralston toid
the War Committe that McNaughton's health was declining, making it advisable
to begin considering a possible sﬁccessor for the (Ommander of the Canadian
Corps .40

The most significant aspect of Ralston's 1941 trip to the United
Kingdom involved a discussiqg‘with the British Secretary of State for War.
Captain Margesson. Ralston ;ad made clear to Margesson that the Canadian
governﬁent considered Canadian troops to bedavaiiabie for service wherever
and whenever the British War 0ffice deemed it appropriafei Margesson was able
to convince Ralston that, until the military situation wa% seriously altered,
the optimum ro?eﬁfor the Canadian units'wéé to remain in B}itaina Although
the Canadians wére to coptinue toiserve a defensive functi5n~ Margesson sug- }
gested that the provision of an additioﬁal armoured division would fepresent
'a most helpful éontribution‘id] Ralston, who had favoured the conversion of
the 4th Division to an armoured formation prior to his departure overseas,
returned to Canada determined to have the Division transformed and despatched.

. Unfortunately for'Ralston and the Liberal government, recruiting

was once again failing to meet requirements. Inuthe four months since the

recruiting drive, only 24,000 men out of a total quota of 37,DOD_actua11y en- -

1isted.42 Immediately after his return from England. Ralston attempted to

explain to Parliament the reasons for the shortages in recruits. The Mini-
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ster of National Defence told the House that enlistments for the Army had

been adversely affected by the expansion of the air training plan and war
.o i -
industry. As well, Ralston emphasized that there existed a mﬁstalén im-

pression throughout the-country that-&dgjtionéi men were not necessary be-

cause there had'peen no casualties. Ralstbn vowed that he would overcome

the recryiting difficulties, sxplaining to the House:

Here is the situation as I see it. The dovernment of
Canada ., pledged to a Ffull-out war eftort, has authorized
the mobilization of the Tirst division. the second, third,
fourth ., and fifth amoured division, and the brigade

grogps of a sixth division....The first duty we have is

to keep up and maintain these formations.... [t is a pledge
given by the government of Canada in the name of the peopie
of Canada themselves who have the obligation to see to it
that the men in these units are backed up to the limit and
that the Canadian Army wg%ch has been authorized is kept
strong and reinfurced.

The deficiency in recruiting was accompanied by renewed pressure for
conscription. As early as October 9, Mackenzie king had become alarmed by

the frequency with which editorfals endorsing conscription were appearing

in the Globe and Mail, the Montreal Gazette, the Financial Post;anéfﬁﬁyzjegp'gu
King's paranoia caused him to suspect a conSpi}acya beiievjng "that these u
baperg represent the interests that have been after me from the start, and

are the ones pressing for «i(mns;cm“pt“ion."'J"'1 By November % Fing's concern

-

ral rau'us tu ensure its support for the policy of voluntary enlisoment.
At RL meeting, King threatened to either call an election or have a plpbzw
scite if he detected that his followers were prepared to support compudsory
overseas service. Not a single member of the caucus vuiced any reservation
concering the government's manpower policy. indicating to king that, tem-

.. . 15
pararily at least . the party was Uﬁitéd.J‘

{
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King's satisfaction with daucus solidarity was quickly dissipated by

Arthur Meighen's sudden return as the leader of the Conservatives. Meighen
had accepted the Tory leadership on November 12, and issued a manifesto the
following day which called for the formation of a national government and

for the introduction of conscription. King, intensely distraught by the

" resurrection of his arch rival, summoned the caucus for an emerdency session.

L2

The Prime Minister recorded in his diary that he A
i

i

spoke of the situation being exactly 1917 over again.
We were confronted by the same leader, being opposed
by the same forces. The issue, National Govermment
»  and conscription - the same motives behind; control
of financial interests, the same. The effort would
“be to desirgy me as it had been to destroy Sir Wilfrid
.... How | had seen Sir Wilfrid's colleagues, one by one,
leave him to join forces opposed to him.
Although he was pleased by the caucus' uniform denunciation of Meighen, king
Tived in constant fear that he was destined to suffer Wilfrid Laurier's rate.
It was within this explosive environment that Ralston attempted to
obtain approval for a further expansion of the Army. In spite of the re-
cruiting deficit, Ralston had become convinced of the merit of converting the
4th Division into an armoured division and despatching it overseas. Undeterred
by the War Committee‘s previous decision to make no more commitments to send
troops to Britain, Ralston included the proposal for the revised role of the
dth Division in the 1942-43 army programme. Introduced to the War Committee
on November 19. the army programme was the cause of continuous controversy
until early in 1942.
Before the War Comwmittee began serious consideration of Ralston's new
{programme,, Ernest Lapointe, who had been hampered by poor health for some
time, passed away. The lass of Lapointe forced King to attempt to find a

v

new French-Canadian lieutenant. [t took the Prime Minister only three days to
o
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de&ide‘apan‘Louis St. Laurent, a corporate lawyer from Montreal, as
Lapointe's successor: St. Laurent accepted-Lapointe'e Juétice portfolio and
soon became an influential mémber of‘the War Committee.

The conflict over the army programme gathered momentum when the
War Committee began a detailed examination of Raigﬁon's proposal on December
2. To demonstrate that the country could Brovide fhe manpower for an addis
tional divisioA? Ralston referred to 6 report of the Labour Supply I[nvestiga-
tion Committee. The fepért indicated that over 600,000 men could still be
péovided for the armed forces, if changes were made to existing labour poli-
cies, such as the introduction of a large number of women into the work forca;47
The combined recruiting requirements of the three services as ?f March 31,

43

1943 would be 214.000. Ralston reassured his colleagues that the drmy

programme w35~desfgned with the understanding that existing and future forma-
tions could be maintained by voluntary Enlistmentidg
Many of the War Committee members were skeptical. Howe argued that

no further formations should be agreed to when it was difficult to procure

enough recruits for previously authorized units. T.A.Crerar agreed, commenting

that the provision of various vital supplies to the United kingdom should take
precedence; The critical objection was raised by King, who asked whether the
Department of National Defence Eou?d guarantee that the necessary recruits
could be obtained voluntarily. ’Raiston responded that while it was not pos-
sible to offer such an assurance, every effort was being made to have the
vo1hntary system work. Ralston remin?gd the Committee, however, that he be-
1ieved: "that need rather than a policy of no conscription shou1q4igﬂthe
criterion upon which judgmeﬁi should be based."ISO

The discussion of the esrmy orogramme was resumed the tollowing day.
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The new Chief of th; General Staff, Kenneth Stuart, attended the meeting
to respond ta the Committee's obaectmns to the programme. Stuart had
become the Chief of the General Staff after Harry Crerar had been appointed
the Comandmg Ufﬁ cer of the 2nd Division. Stuart was the quintessential
bureaucrat, possessing a well-refined ability to tell h1s superiors what

they wished to hear.”!

Mackenzie King cofiducted the interrogation®of Stuart,
asking if the army programme would necessitate conscription and whether

there would be any further reqﬂests to expand the Army. Stuart repliéd that
the programme was designed to comply with the policy of voluntary recrui ting.
Thé additional manpower veguirements were not large enough to influence the
issue of conscription. Stuart ‘concluded by assuring King that the new pro-
qramme represented the 'visible ceiling' in the expanéion of the Canadian Annyg’z
King was considerably appeased by Stuart's promises, noting in his diary that
"these stater;lents from the Chief of Staff impresde me very much and heliped

to meet the difficulty that has been the only real one which presents itse_‘if,

namely that of resorting to conscription to get numbers required.“53

in spite
of King's admiration for Stuart, consideration of the army orogramme was re-
ferred to the full Cabinet.

Before the C_z}binet could meet to discuss the progr‘c;mmej the Japanese
attacked Pearl Harbour, bringing the Americans into the war. With the Uni-
ted States as; a formally declared ally, Mackenzie King believed that Britain's
dependence upon Canadian troops éhcmid decrease.sa’ As well, the en-tr‘y of Japan
into the conflict as an enemy cgyéed some concern about the defence of tie
Pacific coast. Although Stuart and Ralston were confident that existing army
formations could adequately defend Canada. King continued to be dubiousass
King felt that, wﬁth the altered circimstances, home defence thould take -
priority over the despatch of units overseas. While the American  involvement
in the war was ipr‘erequ‘isite for an Allied victory, it created an increased

dichotomy of opinion between King and Ralston over the army nrogramme.
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Tﬁé Cabinet was of minimal assistance in reconciling matters.
During the thregggeetﬁmn;which were held on December 9, 10 and 16, Ralston

) M :
tenaciously adhereﬁrto the policy that he had advocated to the War

Committee. The army programme, Ralston maintained., did not exceed the

L

- country's manpower capacity. \If, however, -the recruits could not be ob-

tained voluntarily, coﬁscription should be considered to be a viable op-

tion.56 King remsrined equally reluctant to authorize a programme which couid

‘lead tq conscription. At the meeting on December 16, King was able to de-

lay a direct confrontation by suggesting that no decision be made qntil |

report was available from the newiy constituted Cabinet Manpower Commitiee

which was chaired by J. T. Thorson, the Minister of National war'Servic§§«57
Although King was relieved that a rupture of Cabinet solidarity

had been temporarily averted, he was becoming increasingly concerned

about R;lston's intransigence. The Prime Minister noted his feelings in

his diary on December 16:

Ralston...is becoming very rigid and [ find it difficult.
except because of commitments he has already made to

attitude. [t lacks vision and statesmanship altogether.

I do not forget that he is thoroughly sincere in be-

Tieving that the war can only be won across the ocean and

that it will be the Army that will be looked to in the end.

The mistake he makes is that another division or two from

Canada will not compensate for what will be %gst n the

more effective actions in other directions.

The conflict between King and Ralston was somewhat ameliorated

on December 18. The preceding day the Manitoba legislature had passed a
resolution which requested that the federal government introduce conscrip-
tion. king, who had been considerin@ the possibility of a plebiscite on
conscription, decided that %he Manitoba resolution justified an appeal to

the nation, King believed that the piebiscite would serve two functions.

~a

some in_the [Defence] Department, to understand his

.




-96-

First, it would deprive the Tories$ of an issue when Parliament reassembled
w ’ - -
in January. Second, it would ease the tension with Ralston. King told

Raiston on December 18 that the Defence Minister could proceed with orders

~ for the army nrogramme, although it yould remain to be determined whether

the units would serve in Canada or overseas. King and Ralston agreed that
the plebiscite could be approached from the perspective tﬂatdthey considered

| conscription to be unnecessary and inadvisable, but, if an emergency arose,
it would be beneficial to have the government released from its pledge of

no conscription for service overseas.s9 -

Ralston's assertion that Britain continued to require additional 'i

manpower from the Canadian Army was strengthened during a visit by Winston

Churchill to Canada at the end of December. Churchill had come to North

_ America primarily to discuss strategic arrangements with Franklin Roosevelt

~and various American officials. After completing his business in Washington
Churchill came to Ottawa to attend a meeting of the War Committee. Before

the meeting, King and Churchill had an opportunity to discuss the military

situation in Britain. Much to King's dismay, Churchill indicated that, Ameri-

can assistance notwithstanding, further Canadian troops would be,ueryﬁhelpgggv~44-’fAA——-

fu1.80

The optimism wh;éh King had once possessed regarding Churchill's
attitude towards Canadian military supporti was further eroded at the War
Committee meeting on December 29, Confident that he had been accurate in
his appraisal of the situation, Ralston remarked to the Prime Minister of
Great Britain that:

fhe Army Programme, for the next year, was now under con-

sideration. Its recommendations included the conversion
of an infantry division and its despatch to Britain as a

\_




-second armoured division. The U.K., Secretary of State
for. War had, on an earlier occasion, expressed to him
the view that a second armoured division would con-
stitute, on the part of Canada, the most desirable form
of additional army congfibution. Had Mr. Churchill
any comment to . make? -

S

Churchill dfd ot equivocate in his response. . He told the War Committee
that‘armoured‘dfvisibns represented the top priority of the army, and: "if
Canada were to send another armoured division to.Britain, it would cer-
tainly be most wel;ome and would constitute a most Qaiuabie addit?ﬁh to

62

forggs now there." The following day King promised Chirchill that Canada

would provide Britain with an additional armoured divisfbn.63,

King's informal commitment to Churchill was confirmed’by the Cabi-
net on January 5 when the army programme was approved. King emphasized.
that the overseas Army should now be regarded as complete. Ralston. while
expressing the hope that ‘it would not prove necessary to undertake any fur-

ther expansion, regretted that it,would be impossible to make such a guaran-

tee. 1t was agreed to ann0unceufﬁat the government believed that the Pro-

gramme could be administered without resorting to conscription. If, how-
ever, voluntary enlistment did not provide a sufficient number of recruits,
54 me

Cabinet, therefore, had decided to accept thearmy programme, while post-

Ralston could reserve his right to consider 'further measures'.

poning the debate on conscription. Equanimity had temporarily been restored.

At this point in the war, Ralston's philosophy was quite simple.
The government should mobilize and despatch overseas as 1afge;anﬁprmy as
the nation's manpower capacity would permit. As he had indicated ih\thé'
House on November 5, it was the moral obligation of the government to rein-
force and maintain every unit that was authorized‘65 Ralston had been re-
luctant to proceed with his proposed army programme for 1942-43 under the

condition that voluntary enlistment would be the only method for obtaining
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recruits, because he feared that it might result in a reinforcement shortage.

The Minister of National Defence was not, houevér, advocating conscription.
Ralston told Mackenzie King on January 6 that‘he wasprepared .to take his
stand agaipst conscription on the score that it would divide the country
and might impair our war effort in that way. He added that he had already

stated that twice and thought he was the only member of the abinet who
66

i

said publicly a word to that effect.” His opposition to conscﬁiptioﬁ
notwithstanding, Ralston's top priority was to ensure that he was able
to-reinforce the divisions which he had been responsible for forming.

The next six months were to prove to be very trying for Ralston.
The plebiscite to release the government from its pledge not to introduce
conscription for overseas &grvice, which Mackenzie King had suggested as
a means of reducing tension within the cabinet. was publicly announced in
the Speech from the Throne -on January 22. The plebiscite, to be held on
Apri] 27, asked the Canadian electorate: "Are you 1in favour‘of.releasing
the gove}nment from any obligation arising out of any past commitmen%s
restricting the methods of raisiné men fof military servi ce?"®7 The{rea
sults of the piebiscite would nbt bind the government to a particulq}
course of action but;‘if a favourable verdict was received, the‘government

would be free to implement whatever manpower policy it deemed appropriate .

Ralston began to suspect that the plebiscite was simply a means of deflect-
ing criticism from the governmeﬁf and would not be used torgelp ensure
the continuity of the war effort@

‘In an effort to better understand the ramifications of the plebis-

Cite, Ralston and Angus Macdonald met with Mackenzie King on January 31.
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Ralston and Macdonald were concerned that, even if the plebiscite passed,
King would re%use to‘impiement conscriptién if the voluntary system of
recruiting failed to produce the required numbers of men. King's res-
ponse to his two Defence Ministers was a classical example of c¢ircum-

locution: -

[ said [ thqgghtiiéwe would have to take the situation, -
to which an attempted enforcement of conscription would
give rise, into account,as well as results which would
be obtained from its enforcement. In other words, that
the effect of every act would have to bg considered in
| relation to the totality of opinion. 8

Mot surprisingly, Ralston and Macdonald were not overly reassured by the
Prime Minister's reply. —

Before the plebiscite was held, the composition of the Canadian
Ammy was once again revised. On March 6, General McNaughton issued a re-

port to the War Committee. McNaughton indicated that, with the addition

of the armoured division and tank brigade provided for in the army Programme,

it would now be possible to form an Army headquarters of the two Corps.

According to McNaughton:

When the present programme was complete, the Canadian Army
overseas would constitute a self-contained, well-balanced
force, suitable for its present role in the defence of

the United Kingdom, and for future employment on the
Continent. The Chief of the Imperial General Staff [Brooke]
was in full agreement with development on these lines.-
General Brooke agreed that, in view of their present and
prospective roles, the Canadians should be kept together;
at the same time the possibility of separate employment

of Canadian_formations, if and when required, had not been
excluded. *

McNaughton emphasized that the role of fhe Canadian army would continue

to be to defend the United Kingdom against the threat of an invasion. On
March 11, the proposal to form an Army headquarters, comprised of two Corps,
one with three Wnfantry divisions and two tank brigades, and the other

with two armoured divisions, was approved by the War Comittee. 0

- =
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w The domestic Army underwent a more fundamental transition. The
success which Japan was enjoying in the Far East necessitated the expansion
of home defence. The mobiiization of home defence units was not very

controversial because the recruits could be obtained through the compul-

sory traihing programme., With the approaching despa;ch of the 4th Armoured

Division overseas, it was intended that the 6th Division serve as its

cite, 73% of those voting in Quebec replied in the negative.

replacement on the Atlantic coast. On March 20, Raﬁton recomnended that
authority be given for the mobilization of the 7th and 8th Divisions to
pfé%;ct the Pacific coast. The War Committee gave its approval without a
single objection being recurded.71 4 )
When the plebiscite was held on April 27, the Army had virtually
rgached its m;;imum tevel of expansiOﬁq" The results of the plebiscite were
quite decisive, with sixty-three percent of the electorate voting to -re-
lease the government from its pledge of not introducing conscription for
overseas service. In Québeci however, the verdict was reversed. While
over 82% of eligible Ontarians issued an affimmative response«to the plebis-
7 72 with the
opposition to conscription concentrated both geographically and racially,
it was inevitable that the issue would continue to represent a political
problem. o
_Ralston believed that, in spite of the regional dissent in Quebec,
the results of the plebiscite necessitated resolute action by the govern-
ment. Although he was not pressing for the immediate adoption of a policy
of compelling recruits to serve overseas. Ralston was convinced that it

would no longer be appropriate to delay if an emergency arose. He was

to tell the House on June 23:




-101- : * -

#

I myself have no doubt about what the vote meant. I do
not say that it was a direction to the government €0 put -
into effect compulsory service for overseas. But what

{ do believe, and what I think the vast majority of they
people of this country believe, is that the voters cgi-
sidered and expressed themselves to this effect to the
government: raise the men in any way you think neces-
sary to help win the war. And underneath that declara-
tion was a definite indication of a grﬁgn light to the
government to go full speed ahead. v

As a result of his perception of the significance of the plebiscite
Ralston became intolerant of any equivocation about the provision of man-
poweévfer the overseas army. Mackenzie King did not shgre‘Ralgfon's mnter-
pretation of the ramifications of the plebiscite. When the Cabinet“met to
‘reconsider its position foliowing the events of April 27, it became appar-

\ ent that King was reluctant to proceed tob quickiy. The Prime Minister re-
commended that an amendment to the National Resources Mobilization Act
should be introduced in pariiament to repeal Section 3, the section which
limited conscription to home defence. It was King's intention to announce
that conscripts could now be forced to serve anywhere in the northern half
of the western hemisphere. The government would not, however, introduce
conscription for ove}seas service before returning to pariiament for a vote
of confidence.74 Ralston disagreed with only one aspect of King's proposed

A_JgﬁﬂffijﬂlfCtiU"a but he did so vehemently. [f the need for conscription

REARRARE B
developed, Ralston argued there would be no time to have a second debate

in parliament. 1In voting to repeal Section 3, parliament would have already

expressed 1ts confTidence in the government's ability *to determine whether

i‘ili or not conscription was required. Ralston could not abide by a policy which

would involve vacillation when prompt action 6%u1d prove to be pivotal.

In fairness to King, the Prime Minister was in an awkward position,

= -
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P.J.A.Cardin, perhaps the most inf]uentgal Minister from Quebec, was . S
firmly opposed to having Section 3 repealed under any circumstances.
Consequently when King announced on May 8 that parliament wouid be asked
to rescind the Timitation on using conscription exclusively for home
defence, Cardin resigned from the C’abimfzsn‘:a?5 Louis St. Laurent quickly
replaced Cardin as the rankinngrench~Canadian mémber of the Cabinet.
While St. Laurent -supported King's proposed amendment of the NRMA, he -
was unyielding in his commitment to returning to parliament before con-
scription for overseas was invoked fhe modérate;members of the (uebec
caucus were in agreement with St. Laurent, but several others were more
sympathetic to Cardin’s position. There was little opposition from the
English-Canadian Cabinet ministers to the condition that a vote of confidence

> /( _
in parliament was a prerequisite for the imposition of conscription for

0verseas.76 indeed, the only colleague to express any support for Ralston
A ;

was Angus Macdonald. - E
King was brepared to gambie that he cqglg appease tﬁe wast majority

of his caucus whileumaintaining the loyalty of Raﬁston and Macdona?d\' The ‘

Prime Minister, having refined the technigque of appealing to Ralston's sense

of duty, resorted to the tacticmce again on May 6. "I said they [Ralston

and Macdonald] were both too good patriots to precipitate a crisis in the-

country such as their withdrawal from the Government would involve. fur

business was to keep the Government united and to meet one step at a t?me»“Tﬁ

~ Ralston percetved his responsibility differently. It was‘no Tonger accep-

table to do what was politically expedien§ in place of fulfilling a méra]

obligation to support the volunteer army. For this reason. Ralston continued

Iy
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to be relentless in his opposition to having a second debate in pariiament.

The 1ntrans1gence of Ralston and Macdonald forced King to do what the .
Prime Minister could do best - delay. Hopeful that “the need for conscr1pt10n
wolild never materialize, King suggested to the Cabinet on May 8 thathit

was unpnecessary to make any firm commitment to return to Parliament for a

vote of confidence. On May 12, the Prime Minister recaiied in his diary ’ 5

that he 'explained' his rather ambiguous position te the full caucus:

It was impossible to2say what conditions might be when it

——— became necessary to introduce conscription, and if, and when,
it should become necessary, | thought it better not to give -
our opponents the weapons to use that we were still being

. limited in our power to take a certain step. [ emphasized

however that I thought they knew my attitude well encugh
toward Parliament to realize the position I would take, and
1 thought “that, by the time any action became necessary, all
would fully understand the situation and matters would be
made So clear by events that the question of a second debate
might not arise at all; that, as long as [ was the head
of the government [ was not likely to take_any action myse1f .
without appreciation of the conditions. !

whiié Ralston was temporar11y satisfied with the new compromise, the Minister
of National Defence should have been alarmed by the emphasis which King

placed upon the caucus real1z1ng wh1ch route was most likely torbe adopted.
B For Ralston, cdﬁ;c;;ﬁt1;:‘was a military rather’than«a’p01itiéa1

problem. ién May 11, he sent a letter to King requesting that no statement
be currently made;%n ParTiamentsﬁonéer;ing the)need, or lack thereof, for

compulsory service overseas, claiming that "with us in this Department that
79

s primarily a military question and [ ought to have Stuart's view." "

Stuart's perception of the situation was abtained at a meeting between the
Chiefs of Staff, King, St. Laurent, and Ralston on May 13. King callied

the meeting primarily to {mpress upon Stuart that the General Staff should not

'
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interpret the plebiscitelas a mandate for conscription. Stwart assuyed
j

) the Prime Mini‘sterjﬂ that the Army continued to believe that it could meet
its commitment through voluntary enlistment. uUnly iF the Acmy was to
become involved in intense fighting with heavy casualties, Stuart \‘
warned, could the need f‘a% conscription be precip*itatedago ‘Rawmn cOn=-

T curred with the commentsmof his Chief of Staff, hoping only to yuarantee
. that he would not be ‘encumber'ed by any pmcadﬁmi _wbstacles in the wvent
. . af 3 crisisy

Over the next wmonth, Ralston's attention was diverted From the -
Question of the most advangageous method of implementing conscription by
a couple of unrelated events. On May 25, Ralston was in Winnipeq tu ad-
dre:ss the qpéni‘ng session of a Canadian Leuion convention. He told the
- delegates that "the result of the plebiscite showed unmistakably that the
people of Canada are willing to g0 to any Tgng‘th which the govermnent
cf)-;r{si ders necessary to effect a total war effort For total war and gives

the government a free haﬂd.“m © Much of his speech dealt with the multi-

farious demands that the war effort was placing on Canadian manpowers
the_navy, the air force, war industry, and ageiculture were no less im-
portant than the army in conducting ‘modern' wartare.  In spite of h‘is re-
marks, the convention passed a resolution calling for the jmmediate intro-
duction of conscription for overseas Sex’*vi;.:e.gz

When Raiston returned to Ottawa, his attenfvzion became focussed‘
upon matters re1ating to home defence. On June 3, the Japanese had‘ Sy -
éggsful1y attacked Dutch Harbmj in ‘the Aleutians. making the Pacific coast
mnr&ginérab‘ie, The War Committee was con;/ened for emergency meetings on
June 3 and June 4 to consider the possibility of taking additional measures

n

to increase the security of the coast. King was extremelv agitated. He

ol
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was worried that the three defence ministers had neglected home defence in

their eagerness to assist in the European vionf'lictam O June 4 Ralstun

(¢~

was able to report that ;:he Chlef of the General Staff was confident that
no  further armyv r‘einmrcanents* for the Pacitic coast would be reguired tu
meet the estimated scale of operations. [f was essential, Ralston added,

to determine the defence capabilities of the Americans in Alaska before
devising an adequate wethod of protecting the British tolumbia coas t_M
Ralston expressed a Jdesire to visit British Columbia so that he could
confer with Stuavt about the situwatimm. Ying, certain that the wotivation
behind Ralston's proposed tvip was svmptomatic of his ir@biﬁt& to delegate
authority. persuaded the Defence Minister to remain in Ottawa.?" The eri-g
ston was ultimately dissipated by the assurances ot the General Stafl and the
guaranteed support of the Americans.

o The cabinet had scarcely recovered from the threat of a Japanese
attack, when the controversy over the proceédure (o ‘intl/“tiidute ConSCYription
was revived. AfTter the debate an the second reading of Bill 20 (the bill
which repealed \Sect‘ir:)n 3 of the NRMA) had been 1n progress Ter twe davs,
Mackenzie ting began te suspect a pussible alliance between the Quebec Liberals
apd the C.C.F. king was concerned that the govermient's veluctance to pro-
mise to veturn to parliament before invoking conscription was quing by re-
sult in a coalition of anti=conscyiptionist forces.- Consequently Fing told
ithe full cabinet om June 12 that it f

would See the position the party was being placed in
berause of our not agreeing to come back tu pariiament.

That it was apparent we were going) to luse both the

L.L.F. and Social Credit party and, from Quebe: and tntario,
some of our own following. 1 then said [ thought it

was absolutely necessary that when the time came, i¥ it

did come, to put e:onscr’iptigu into force, parliament's
approval should be given. U0

"
l
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Ralston responded to King by suggesting that it would be acceptable

to seek a vote of confidence from Parliament if an Order-in-Council,
authorizing conscription, was signed before returning to the House. King
asserted that he would resign before adopting such a policy. With the
exception of Macdonald, the remainder of the Cabinet demonstrated no
disagreement with the Prime Minister.

After the Cabinet meeting had concluded, Ralston and King met
privately. In what must have been a fascinating conversation, Ralstun
immediately suggested that he would have to resign. According to biny's
diary, Ralston told the Prime Minister that: "You and | do not see Rye

to eyes; have not for some little time and [ think the thing to do is to
u87 ‘

-~
get out at once. King, Aillyays suspecting a conspiracy, asked Ralston
if '‘men of means' were influencing him to attempt to force King's removal -
from office. Following Ralston's denial of the allegation, he was tempted
by King with the idea of replacing him as Prime Minister: Ralston cate-
qorically refused the offer. Having exhausted his favorite tactics for
dealing with dissenters, King requested that Ralston delay his resignation
until the conditions of the situation became somewhat clearer. Not wishing
to be unduly hasty, Ralston consented. King concluded in his diary that
Ralston's motivation for being so stubborn was because:

He just wants to have his own way and is prepared to

sacrifice we or the party to have it: Justifying no

doubt his conscience in that this is a war where men

are being slain and that conscription is necessary for

victory. He does not see the political aspect, using

that word in its best sense at all.
It is quite Tikely that Ralston possessed a corresponding lack of conti-
dence in Mackenzie King's ability to appreciate the military 'aspect'.

Prior fo Ralston's scheduled participation in the debate on the

second reading of Bill 80. the Defence Minister had another meeting with

King. No progress was made during the discussion, and Ralston implied
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that King could anticipate aletter of resignation within the next bﬂor
days. OUmce again, King aitempted to persuyade Ralston to postpone any
de;iiion until the debate on Bill 20 had conc1uded‘89 B though he gave
no Jquarantees, Ralston acquiesced to King's plea.

Ralston made his contribution to the iengthy parliamentary de-
bate on June 23. After reminding his fellow M.P.s of the indispensible

role that the Canadian Army was performing in the war effort, Ralston

commented upon the significance of revoking Section 3 of the NRMA. "When

the section is repealed”. Ralston told the House, "nothing is left For
Parliament, and the proper courseis that the government should not shrink
from the responsibility for which it has asked, but should act on that
responsibility and act as it deems best in the light of the power given
by that Sectioni"go To return to Parliament tor a vote of confidence was
unacceptabie because:

it would be regarded as evasion: it would be regarded

as a shrinking from responsibility. All we are doing in

this debate, having spent weeks at it as it is, would

then be merely an idle gesture, because we would then

have to come back once more to debate the whole question

before exercising the power which we had expressly asked

Pariiament t81conf6r upon us, and which had been so
conferred. -

Ralston. after being éo emphatic in his public denunciation of the policy
of requiring further approval from Parliament prior to tmplementing con-
seription, was now even less Tikely to compromise with King.

The superficially trivial contflict between king and Ralston ac-
quired a critical status on July 7. That morning king assembled the full
Labinet to annoﬁnce that he intended to terminate debate on Bitil 30 later
that day. The Prime Minister told his coT]eagyes that, during his con-
cluding remyrks to the House, he would state that “"once Cabinet decided
for conscription. should that become necessary. [he] felt it would be

necessary for [him] to be assured of the contidence of Parliament befure
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attempting to enforce the decision.... Kfng's promise to restrict a

second debate to two or three days did not placate Ralston. He protested,
once again asserting that it would be po%sibiesto sign an Order-in-Council
authorizing ébnscription before receiving a second vote of approval. King
dismissed Ralston's suggestion on the grounds that it would represent an

insult to Parliament. Council adjourned at 2:30 without any further pro-

gress beihg}g§9e593

For the remainder of the afternooﬁ Ralston reflected upon his fu-
ture course of action. Although Ralston's overly concise diary offers no
indication of the feelings which the [efence Minister was experiencing. it

is not difficult to assess what must ha&é been foremost in his mind. As

,was discussed previously. Ralston had returned to the Cabinet in 1939 on

an interim basis. He possessed no ambition to continue in public office
following the termination of hostilities, and had undergone a considerable
financial loss in consenting to King's request to accept a portfolio. Now
in hi; sixties and suffering from repeated bouts of sciatica. Ralston was
beginning to feel the strain of his self-imposed work week of sixtéen

hours per day, six days a week. The personal discomfort he had experienced
during the Hong Kong controversy and the constant strugg1e‘to secure the
War Committee's commitment to the army must have further eroded Ralston's

will to persevere. He was prepared, however, to tolerate such adversity it

he could convince himself that he was adhering to policies which were morally

justified. To Ralston, King's insistence on going back to varliament re-
presented the worst form of political expediency, sométhing that was simply
not acceptable under the circumstamces. Consequently, Ralston dratted a

letter of resignation.




The letter to King in which Raiston’outiined the reasons for his
resignation contained few surprises. Ra?stoh succinctly stated his objec-
tions to the Prime Minister's recommended procedure:

Suffice it to say that it seems to me that the repeal

of Section 3 now and this long debate preceding it will
be just an idle gesture and of no practical effect what-
ever in enabling the Government to act if, before acting,
we must go back to Parliament again. It would appear Tike
saying to Parliament and- the people, "Although you have
givenus full authority to act on this very matter of com-
pulsary overseas service we won't act uniess and until
Parliament reiterates that grant of authority by another
yote after another debate.” I[n other words, after the
people and Parliament have untiegqour hands we would
ourselves be tying them again.

Since the question of principle separating the two men seemed irrecon-

- cilable, Ralston concluded that his reSignation was necessary to preserve

“the confidence and the intimate relations so essential to association in
Government." 95

When Ralston delivered his letter of resignation to King later .
¢

that evening, the Prime Minister had no opportunity to consider the matter.

~King was preoccupied with delivering the concluding speech to the debate on

the second reading of Bill 80. King assured Ralston, however, that he

could meet the Defence Minister's objections.gb After agreeing to dis-

cuss the matter the following day, King made his speech to Parlﬁament. [n

his diary he expressed-some Hismay over the abéence of app1qu§e§when he
announced that he would come back for a vote of confidence befq&e enforc- -
ing comscription. The vote on second reading was held at the éonciusion
of Kingns speech. Only the C.C.F. and-eleven Frenchatanadiandiibera1§

opposed the bill, which received a majority of 104 votes. Ironically,

King estimated that his pledge of returning to Pariiament only influenced
the votes of approximately five to ten members.g7

'




PR

-110-

. éefare his scheduled afternoon meeting with Ralston on July 8,
King discussed the situation with Louis St. Laurent. The Minister of
Justice advised King that the best tactic, designed to avoid the resig-
nation, Qould be to attempt to make Ralston feel responsible for precipi-

98

tating a general election in a time of crisis. King concurred with

5t. Laurentks strategy, r%a1izing to what extent appeals to Ralston'‘s
sense of moral obligation had been effective in- the past.

Durfng the one-and-a-haif hour meetihgzﬁith"Ra1stonﬁ King employed
every means possible to dissuade his senior defence minister from leaving
the government. (onvincedthat a resignation of such magnitude would
create a very precarious politicaj énvironment, King implied that he would
involve the British monarch and Churchill before accepting Ralston's re-
quest to relinquish his portfalio. As well, King once again intimated that
he was prepared to allow someone to succeed him as Prime Min‘ister‘99 When
neither of these announcements proved to have much of an effect upon Rat-
ston, King adopted St. Laurent's recommended strategy. Tﬁe Prime Minister
emphasized that Ra1st6n's resignation would inevitably necessitate an elet-
tion, an occurrence which would negatively influence thé war ef?ort.TOD As
St. Laurent had predicted, Ralston became less obstinate. He conceded that
he would reconsider his resignation if Kiﬁg would write aletter which ex-
licitly stated that the Defence Minister could act as he dee&ed appropriate.
Consequently Ralston consented to make no decision until the Prime Minister ’

had drafted a 1etter.10’

Ironically, when the meeting adjourned, King as-
sured Ralston that there was no cause for alarm because: * I had never at
any time blocked him in any of the recqpnendations that he had made. [ had
supported him in getting the Army to the size it is: I had tried to uphold
102

him in every way." Mackenzie King must have possessed a very selective

memory .
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To some extent, Ralston's position was FurtherAcomoiicated by
additional requests for manpower by the overseas army. After King and
Ralston's meeting on July 8 the War Committee convened to consider a re-
organi;ation of the Canadian Army Overseas. Due to revisions in the
structure of British divisions, General McNaughton had requested that
Canadian Divisions be similariTy‘reconstituted. Although precise esti-
mates were not a;aiiable, the transformation of the divisionswoyld involve
an increased demand for men, perhaps as many as 30,000. Ralston admitted
to the Committee that "although gross enlistwments for the active arfay had
been up during the last three months, the curve was now downwards.“m3
The availability of eligible mampower was further restricted, Ralston la-
mented, because many general se;vjce volunteers could not be despatched
overseas without seriously disrupting home defence units. The Committee
agreed to further explore the matter 1in relation to the general manpower
situation.

C. D. Howe was becoming increasingly distressed over the 'general
manpower g?%uation'ii The Minister of Munitions and Supply believed that
the army programme was divertjng too many men from essential war industry,

When Ralston suygested at the War Committee meeting on July 8 that more

men might be requived for the overseas army, Howe cguld no longer restrain

his frustration. On July 11, Howe drafted a vitriolic letter to Ralston:

My department is at its wits' end to decide on steps

to protect essential war production in the face of the
call to service of men extending upward to age 40. It
seems>to me that some revised practice must be adopted,
as the present machinery is wholly inadequate to prevent
many essential key men being taken out of munitions pro-
duction and put in the Army. The plan of postponement of
service which has been operative to this date now be-
comes wholly inadeguate to meet the situation, and we

are already faced with drastic reductions in production
of strategic materials...., I feel sure that it is not the
purpose of the government to destroy munition production
at a time when our programme is just approaching its ob=]04
jectives, but nevertheless, such a pracess is under way.
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It is difficult to assess what effect Hoﬁe'é criticism of the army had
upon Ralston. Howe had never been one of the more vocal opponents of
the expansion of the army. If Howe was developing a greater antipathy
for the Army, Ralston hay have concluded that his resignation would leave
the army in an extremely wvulnerable position in the War Committee. Con-
sequently, Howe may have inadvertently revived Ralston's will to persevere.

On the night of July 9 Mackenzie King invited Ralston to his
office to djscuss the draft letter which the Prime Minister had prepared.
Ralston read the letter in King's presence, but vreguested that he be
given another day before making any comments. According to Ralston's diary.
the letter provided the Defence Minister with full Freedom of action and
urged him not to resign, stressing the undesirability of causing an eléc-
tion.105 Before Ralston withdrew from King's office, the two men once
again reviewed the issue of going back to Parliament, but no original
thoughts were expressed. When the meeting had concluded, King reflected
in his diary that: "I am perfectly sure that Mrs. Ralston is doing all in
her  power tg have him quit before he breaks down, and that in all prob-
abiﬁity she is pressing him very hard to take advantage of this occasion.
She has never wanted him to be in public 1iFe.“106

The following day, which was a Friday, Ralston asked King that he
be given the weekend to deliberate upon the question of his resignation.
He told King quite bluntly that he thought it was unfair to place the full
responsibility for necessitating an election on his shoulders. Furthermore,
Ralston noted in his diary that he informed the Prime Minister that the
"sole question, to my mind, was freedom not to follow course he proposed,

I
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and whether 1 was really needed."m7 Following their conversation, King

retired to Laurier House to write the final draft of the letter which

he hoped would convince Ralston to remain in the Cab%nete

Ralston received King's letter on the morning of July 11. In the

seven pages

of the document King responded to the various points which

Ralston had raised in his letter of resignation. For Ralston. however,

the critical passage consisted of the second half of the concluding para-

grdph:

—

Should you be willing to withdraw your letter...l should,
like you to feel that you would not thereby be limiting,
in any way, your right to take, at any future time,

* whatever course of action you may feel necessary and

in the national interest. [ should also like you to feel
that by remaining a member of the government, you would
not thepeby be bound in any way by this personal under-
taking [ have given with respect to being assured of the
confidence of the House of Commons before resort is had

to conscription F?r overseas 'service by a Ministry of which
[ am the head. 108

Although King had granted him the freedom of action which he considered to

be essential, Ralston continued to be cautious. Before arriving at a

final verdict concerning his resignation, Ralston decided to discuss the

matter with

Power and Macdonald.

The meeting with these two men was held on the morning of July 13

and helped

to convince Ralston not to resign. Although no record of the

meeting exists, the structure of Ralston's diary would suggest that it was

24

during this meeting that Raiston made his final decision to stay on as the

Minister of

*

National Defence:

July 13th - Discussed with Power and Macdonald

Monday
Morming

Finally decided. in view of his [king's] assurances
as to expediting action after decision and freedom
to act, and to avoid appearance of quitting in 199

midst of pressing activities, would not press. el

o . __
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After Ralston had resolved not to resign, Power and Macdonald assisted

“in writing a letter to King which outlined Ralston's reasons and conditions

for remaining in the govermment. In his memoirs. 'Chubby’ Power recalls

that he believed that the final draft of the letter "was pretiy stiftf.

but [ think King will accept it,“){10

Ralston had the letter delivered to the Prime Minister non the
following day. Never dﬁe for equivocation. Ralston was concise in his
corvespondence to king. Qe succinctly stated that he had not altered his
views on the question of going back to Parliament, but he had been sut-
ficiently reassured by King to justify his continued service tu the duvern-

ment. It is worth noting the manner in which Ralston presented the sifua-

tion to king:

[ have no objection to Parliament being 'acquainted’
with the Government's decision at any time. The
informing of Parliament is not the point. What I ob-

. ject to is promising that the decision will not be en-
forced until Parliament has voted on it again.

My general concern was the major difference in
attitude between us, as indicated by what I considered .
to be the dilatory procedure you proposed. What you
have said to me in our discussionsince [ wrote you has
reassured me to some extent regarding your general
attitude of readiness to expedite action when [a] deci-
sion is made, although I must say definitely that |
adhere to sy views about the harmful effect of promising
to go back to Parliament before acting.

My particular concern is that when a decision is made
it shall be put into effect just as promptly as possibie.
In our discussions since the writing of my letter you
have assured me that you would see to it that there would
be no delay in obtaining Parliamentary action when a Jdeci-
sion is made. and you have told me that you consider that
any debafe should be curtailed to not more than two days.
In your speech you intimate that the lapse of a weel after
decision should suffice to obtain Parliamentary action
even in case Parliament is not sitting when the decision
is made.

%

— ——— U U -
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it is difficult to determine at the moment whether and
to what extent even this lapse of time or the method which
you propose to pursue might affect the efficient and ex-
peditious prosecution of the war; and, hoiding the views
which I expressed in the House and in my letter, I feel
that I must retain my liberty te take at any time what-
ever stand | think proper in the national interest, and
your letter assures me that I am free to do that.

Meanwhile we are'$§ the midst of a multitude of
activities in connection with the Army Programme both in
Canada and overseas, and there are many problems which
arise from the rapid expansion which has had to be under-
taken in the light of war developments. The only hesi-
tation I had when [ sent you my leiter was that it might
have the appearance of quitting when the going was hard.
I think you know, however, that I have no desire to shirk
responsibility. In yiew therefore of your assurance as
to your own general attitude and on the understanding in-
dicated in your letter that I will not be bound to the
Ccourse you have outlined, nor Timited in any way in my
right to take at any future time whatever course of
action I may feel necessary and in the national interest,

1 am prepared not to press my resignation for the present. 11

As Power had predicted King accepted the terms of Ralston's letter. Siy-
nificantly Ralston did not withdraw his letter of resignation, allowing
the Prime Minister to keep it on file. A1th0uqh‘the fetter would play
an important role in the conscription climax of October 1944, a tenuous
truce had been temporari]y achieved.

Ralston's threatened resignation was symbolic of much more than
a question of pariiamentary procedure. Ever since the first recruiting
shortages had been experienced in April 1941, Ralston had grown 1ncrea-
singly uneasy about King's commitment to maintaining the 2rmy. The Prime
Minister's consistent opposition to the 1942-43 a rmy programme and to
other expaﬁsions of the army intensified Ralston's insecurity. While king

suffered from a fear of conscription that bordered on paranoia, Ralston
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possessed the appréhension that King's philosophica& orientation would
prevent the necessary support for ghe overseas Army. ForRalston, King's,
behaviour following the 1942 plebiscite confirmed this suspicion. King's
insistence on returning to Parliament for a vote of confidence was; to
Ralston, representative of the Prime Ministef's general attitude of anti-
pathy toward the Army.

The reconciliation between King and Ralston in mid=July of 1942
should not be perceived as an indication that the two men had resolved their

di fferences. Indeed, Ralston would have Teft the Cabinet had King not

granted him the freedom to dissent from government policy in the future,
As long as the overseas Army could be adequately maintained through volun-
tary enlistmgnts, there would be no threat to the alliance between King and
Ralston. The Minister of National Defence favoured the voluntary recrui-
ting method. but would not hesitate to introduce conscription i;ﬁit became
otherwise impossible to reinforce the existing units. As he had publicly
stated in the House of Commons on November 5. 1941 the government and the
people of Canada had a moral obligation to sypport the volunteer Army.
Mackenzie King perceived the priorities differently. The disruption of
national unity that conscription would create could oniy be justified if it
could be demonstrated that\h‘poiicy of compulsion for overseas service was
necessary to win the war, Bt was thi; essential dichotomy of apinion be-
tween King and Ra1§t0n which ultimately resulted win the conscription

t

crisis of 1944,
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CONCLUSION

The preceding chapters have traced the development of Ralston's
policies with regard to the Canadian Army and its role in World War II.
Because of his unique experiences prior to entering the Cabinét in 1939
Ralston was in a éingular position to édmﬁnister a fundaménta] aspect of
the Canadian war effort. As a %ron&?line battalion coﬁhandef in World War
i. Ralston had suffered the loss of his brother under tragic circumstances
and had witnessed the annihi1étion of many of his comrades. While Ralston
had received a first-hand lesson in theherrofs of war, he had formed a
protound loyalty to the volunteer soldier. In his post-World War [ political
endeavours, Ralston constantly concerned himself with veterans' aftairs.

By 1939, Ralston had clearly retired fmmkpoliticsw [ndeed. he
was so committed to ieaving{politicaT life that he refused to run in the
1935 e?ectioﬁs when a prominent cabinet portfolic was a virtual certainty,
and subsequently declined a Senate appointment. When he consented to king's
Jdnvitation to return to the Cabinet in 1939, Ralston acted out of duty as
opposed to ambition. Unencumbered by a concern for re-election, Ralston had
Tittle patience for paiit%cal expediency when it contlicted with what hg
believed to be administratively necessary. ‘

During his tenure as Minister of Finance {from September 1939 to
July 1940% Ralston qemonstrated a desire to restrict Canada's contribution
to the war while thé international situation remained uncertain. From his
tough negotiating with the British regarding the financial responsibility

of the British Commonwealth Air Training Programme to his opposition to

TieeT
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Norman Roger's proposal to form a Canadian Corps, Ralston cﬁnsistentiy ad-
hered to a poiicy of limited liability. However, as the "phoney war' quickly
transformed into the German blitzkrieg of Europe, Ralston relaxed the finan-
cial restrictions which he had imposed upon government spending. 3
Ralston's altered perception of Canada's role in the war coincided
with his appointment to the National Defence portfolio. Convinced that Canada's
Fr@ﬁt»Tine lay in the defence of the vulnerable British Isles, Ralstoﬂ sought
to expand the overseas army in the 1941 army programme. Ralston's belief that
the British were in urgent need of additional manpower was confirmed during a
visit which he made to the United Kingdom in late 1940. Upon returning to
Canada, Ralston encountered considerable opposition from his War Committee
colleagues to the army programme. Led by Mackenzie King, the majd?ity of the
War Comnittee objected to an increased emphasis upon the army, arguing that
munitions production, agriculture. the navy and the air force should ali re-
ceive priority in the allocation of manpower. Not submissive by nature, Ral-
ston fought vigorously to secureJthe adoption of his programme. After several
lengthy debates in the War Committee, Ralston was ultimately successful. J
The struggle daﬁ? the 1941 army programme represented the first phase
of a deteriorating relationship between King and Ralston. As voluntary re- °
cruiting sagged and demands for the expansion of the overseas army continued,
Mackenzie king's. paranoia about conscription intensified. At the same time.
Raiston was attempting to mobilize as large an army as the nation's manpower
capacity would permit. Although Ralston remained committed to the policy of
voluntary enlistment, hé‘COUTQ not guarantee that the 1942-43 army programme
would never necessitate conscription. Although the 1942 plebiscite had been
designed by King toihssist in reducing the tension created by the conscription

issue, it only served to heighten Ralston’s apprehension about King's political
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exploitation of the army. Ralston, convinced that the government had a moral
obligation to support and réinfprce the volunteer arﬁy, could not countenance
indecision on the issue. When Mackenzie King insisted that Parliament be
consulted érior to impiementi?g congcription, even though it had a1feady
consented to repeal Section Bxbf the NRMA, the attitude of the two(men di-
verged to such an extent that Ralston tendered his resignation. Ralston
consented @0 stay on, however, when King assured him.that he could dissas~
sociate himself from government policy at aﬁy point in the future.

When the 1942 conscription crisis subsided. the fundamental Jdif-
ference of opinion which separated Ralston from King cén‘tinued to exist. Al-
though it remained latent for the next two years, it re—eherged during the
reinforcement shortage in October 1944. When it became apparent that exist-
ing overseas army in?antry formations could not be adequately reinforced
through voluntary enlistment, Ralston recommended that 15,000 trained NRMA re-
cruits be despatched to overcome the deficiency. K%ngi still resolute in
his opposition to conscription, responded to Ralston's proposal by producing
the 1942 letter of resignation and accepting it. Less than one month Tater
King's efforts to circumvent the use of conscription ultimately proved futile
when he was fo}ced to implement precisely the policy which he had dismissed
Ralston for suggesting.

It would be fair to say that Ralston received little consolation
from the irony of the situation. The Tong hours and the constant pressure of
his ministerial responsibilities took a severe toll upon Ralston's health.

Although he returned to his law firm following his abrupt departure from
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the Cabinet, Ralston never physically recovered from the strain of —

his five years in office. In May 1948 Ralston died of a heart attack

while saying his nightly pravers. While some might gquestion Ralston's judg-
ment in building sych a large arimy, no one can deny his sense of sincerity,

dedication, and sacrifice. Perhaps the é}eatest tribute that one could

pay to James Ralston would be to admit that he adhered throughout his pub-

lic life to his personal motto, “Character is what you are when nobody is

watching” .

e
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